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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

SHARONE HUBERT,
Plaintiff,

V. No. 3:14-cv-476 (VAB)
STATE OF CONNECTICUT

DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONet al,
Defendants.

RULING AND ORDER ON PENDING MOTIONS

Sharone Hubert (“Plaintiff”) has sued the State of Connecticut Department of Correction
(“Defendant” or “DOC”) and vadus individual DOC employeeSee generallAm. Compl.,

ECF No. 10. Specifically, she has sued Capkgile Godding (“Godding”), Deputy Warden
Michael Davis (“Davis”), Correction Officer KewiCurry (“Curry”), Lieutenant Derrick Austin
(“Austin”), and Lieutenant Cicero CallendgCallender”) (collectively, the “Individual
Defendants”), each in his official capacity (cotigely “Defendants”)alleging violations of
Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 200€eseq,. and 42 U.S.C. §§ 1985,
1986, and 1988.

Defendants now move for summary judgm&@F No. 121. Defendants also move to
dismiss this action under Federal Rules afilrocedure 37(b) or 41(b). ECF No. 126. Ms.
Hubert has moved for reconsideration. ECF No. MBl.Hubert has also moved to consolidate.
ECF No. 141.

For the following reasons, the motion for summary judgme@RANTED . The motion
to dismiss IDENIED as moot, the motion for reconsideratio®iENIED as moot, and the

motion for consolidation iIDPENIED as moot.
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FACTUAL AND PROCED URAL BACKGROUND !

A. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

Ms. Hubert, an African American womahas been employed by the DOC since
February 1998. Am. Compl. § 4. The DOGisabinet-level, para-military, state agency
responsible for confining and supervisirggased and sentenced criminal defendants in
correctional institutions, centers, and unaisd it administers medical, mental health,
rehabilitative, and community-baseervice programs across the stidey 12; Miller Aff. | 4,
Defs.” SMF, Ex. 5, ECF No. 121-8. The DOC eoyd more than five hundred officers and
civilian employees state-wide, and it has canéd compliance with federal and state anti-
discrimination laws and geilations. Am. Compl. T 13.

1. Hartford Correctional Center

From February 13, 1998, through Septenii:r2009, Ms. Hubert was assigned to the
Hartford Correctional Center (“Hartford CC”). Be SMF § 3; Hubert Aff. I 6, Pl.’'s SMF, EX.
17, ECF No. 130-34. During this time, Michael Dawias the Captain at Hartford CC. Defs.’
SMF 1 32.

While stationed at Hartford CMs. Hubert worked with Ligenant Derek Austin. Hubert
Dep. at 19:1-12. Ms. Hubert tesif that, beginning in 1999, Mr. Atin would come to her post
and expose himself to Ms. Hubert and make leathments to Ms. Huloein front of other
officers.Id. at 66:1-8. Mr. Austin was, according to Nfubert, told to stay away from Ms.
Hubert, and eventually transferredatalifferent DOC facility on November 29, 2004. at
65:24-25, 55:9-14. The last contact Ms. Hubad with Mr. Austin was in 200Hd. at 19:11—

14.

! The facts are undisputed unless otherwise noted.



Ms. Hubert testified that she filed repoatsout Mr. Austin and, according to Ms. Hubert,
these reports went unanswerkt.at 63:14—-21. She explainedatithe DOC'’s Affirmative
Action Unit was a “joke.'ld. at 63:15.

It was also at Hartford CC where Ms. Hubsdrked with Officer Kyle Godding. Hubert
Dep. at 305:13-17. Ms. Hubert testified that Mr. Godding would come to Ms. Hubert’s post in
main control and asked if Ms. Hubert would gMe. Godding a pair of her underwear to smell
and told her she was beautiful and that he hadish on her. Hubert Aff] 61. At one point, Mr.
Godding allegedly stated that he knew Ms. Htilba&s being considered for a promotion and
said he would put in a good word for Ms. Hubert and then asked for a hug anda kiss.

After 2005, Ms. Hubert no longer worked wittr. Godding, but they stayed in touch
with one another. Hubert Degat 305:15-20.

a. Administrative Directive 2.2, Sexual Harassment, Effective
September 15, 2008

On September 15, 2008, the DOC &s$Administrative Directive 2.2See generally
Sept. 15, 2008, Miller Aff., Ex. C, ECF No. 121-(superseding Administrative Directive 2.2,

dated May 1, 2007).

2 In relevant part, # Directive provides:

9. Filing a Complaint. The Department shall investigate and
remedy sexual harassment, retaliation and related
misconduct that come to its attention whether or not the
employee has made a complaint. The following procedures
apply to complaints:

B. Complaints may be made in the following ways:
1. On CN 2101, Affirmative Action Complaint
Form. . ..
2. By any other written complaint, letter or report;
3. By telephone;
4. In person; or,




b. The Gym Room Incident

In spring 2009, Mr. Davis, Ms. Hubert’s supsir, allegedly asked héo leave her post
and accompany him to “the gym room.” Hubert Dep. at 44:9-17. Mr. Davis allegedly told Ms.
Hubert that there was missing equipment] he needed her assistance in findingglitat 44:23—
25. Ms. Hubert testified that she was lookingtfee missing equipment when Mr. Davis tried to
kiss herld. at 45:6—-8. With her back against a wall,. davis allegedly putis hand inside Ms.
Hubert’'s underwear and asked if he ebput the tip of his penis inside hé&t. at 45:10-46:9.
Mr. Davis allegedly unzipped his pants and adWsdHubert to perform a sexual act for hilch.
at 46:11-16. At this point, someone walkeddoyd Ms. Hubert tried to walk away, but Mr.
Dauvis allegedly restrained hed. at 46:21-22.

Other than to her husband, Ms. Hubed dot report the incident, Defs.” SMF | 33,

because she feared retribution. Hubert Aff] 86. Also, Mr. Davis’s wife worked in the

5. By fiing a complaint with the Equal
Employment Opportuty (EEOC) or the
Connecticut Commission on Human Rights and
Opportunities (CHRO) . . ..

C. A complaint of violation of this Directive may be
made directly to any of the following in any of the
ways listed in Section 9(B) of this Directive:

Affirmative Action Unit;

Human Resources;

Unit Administrator or Director;

Any manager or supervisor,

The independent consultant appointed by the

Permanent Commission on the Status of Women

(PCSQ); or,

6. The Permanent Commission on the Status of
Women.

arwnE

Id. at 4—6.



Affirmative Action Office “and would have begivy to the substance of [Ms. Hubert’s]
complaint.”ld.
Mr. Davis was transferred to €shire Cl. Hubert Dep. at 50:16-17.

C. Administrative Directive 2.17, Employee Conduct, Effective
January 31, 2009

Administrative Directive 2.1, EmployeeoBduct, became effective on January 31, 20009.

See generallyan. 31, 2009, Admin. Directive 2.1, Mill Aff., Ex. A., ECF No. 121-9.

3 The Directive Provides, in pertinent part:

B. Act in a professional manner showing respect to
other employees and the public.

8. Abuse sick time, accrued leave or workers’
compensation.

17. Engaging in behavior that is sexually,
emotionally, or physically abusive or harassing
toward the public, employees or inmates.

18. Unauthorized appropriation or use of any
property belonging to the public, state or an
inmate for personal, political or union purposes
(i.e., computers, elecnic mail, Department
letterhead, etc.).

25. Failure to follow a lawful order.

26. Engaging in insubordination.

27. Failure to cooperate with a Department
investigation.

28. Lying or giving false testimony during the course
of a Department investigation.

29. Intentionally withholding information necessary
for the completion of an investigation.

9. Reporting Policy and/or Condu¥iolation. Each employee
shall report to a supervisar appropriate personnel any
policy violation or breach of professional conduct involving
the public, employees or inmates.

ld. at 1-3, 5-6.



2. York Correctional Institute

From September 11, 2009, through Decemb@089, Ms. Hubert was assigned to York
Correctional Institute (*“York C), Defs.” SMF { 3, and promoteid Correctional Lieutenant.
Hubert Aff. § 62.

3. Gates Correctional Institute

From December 9, 2009, through January P802Ms. Hubert was assigned to Gates
Correctional Institute (“GateSI”). Defs.” SMF | 3. Though MiGodding was not stationed at
Gates CI, Mr. Godding would call Ms. Hubert frdéms facility and send her emails. Hubert Aff.
1 63.

a. December 29, 2009 Letter to Hamden Police Department

Officer Rosalyn Williams accused Ms. Hubeftplacing a woman who was allegedly
having an affair with Ms. Hubert's husbandtie trunk of Ms. Hubert's car and holding the
woman hostage. Defs.” SMF {1 29-30.

On December 29, 2009, the police came to Mshéft's home, searched her vehicle, and
found no body in the trunk of thear. CHRO Compl. { 16. That day, Ms. Hubert wrote a letter to
the Hamden Police Department on DOC le#eaxh Dec. 29, 2009, Hamden Ltr. at 1, Hubert
Dep., Ex. 16, ECF No. 121-4 at 154 the letter, Ms. Hubert std that, earlier that day, a
police officer from the Hamden Police Departmamntved at Ms. Hubert’'s home and asked Ms.
Hubert questions about Ms. Williamd. Ms. Hubert explained that Ms. Williams had a child
with Ms. Hubert's husband before Ms. Hubert married himAccording to Ms. Hubert, Ms.
Williams had called the police and reported tat Hubert threatened Ms. Williams at Ms.
Williams’s houseld. Ms. Hubert stated that Ms. Willianmad threatened Ms. Hubert’s family

and made false reports due to Ms. Williams’s infatuation with Ms. Hubert's hudbdaat2.



b. January 27, 2010 Letter from Warden Kevin Gause

Ms. Hubert testified that, upon the remmendation of Ms. McLaurin, on January 27,
2010, Warden Kevin Gause issued to Ms. Hubéettar informing Ms. Hibert that she failed a
promotional working test period and wasfdoted” to correctional officer. July 16, 2010,
CHRO Compl{ 13. Ms. McLaurin, Ms. Hubert allegdalsely accused of Ms. Hubert of failing
to comply with a direct order on November 30, 2009, and subsequently Ms. Hubert received an
unsatisfactory ratindd.  13.

Mr. Gause’s letter stated: his letter is to inform you that you failed your promotional
working test period in the posit of Correctional Lieutenanhd you will be reverted to your
former classification of Coection Officer.” Jan. 27, 2010, Gaust. at 1, Hubert Dep., Ex. 32,
ECF No. 121-4 at 163. Mr. Gause notes thatinguhe rating period, Msdubert refused to
fully comply with a direct order in violatioof Directive 2.17, resultig in an unsatisfactory
rating.ld. Ms. Hubert refused to sign the lettiet.

Jeffrey Miller, the DOC Director of HumaResources, testified thatnder the collective
bargaining contract between the state of @atiout and the Connecticut State Employees
Association, SEIU Local 2001—which represents correctional supervisors including
lieutenants—Ms. Hubert was subject to a sirth working test period. Miller Aff. § 9. Mr.
Miller further testified that amternal investigation substantiated that, on November 30, 2009,
Ms. Hubert failed to fully comply witla direct order from her supervistt. § 11. Having failed
the promotion working test, Ms. Hubert “reverted” to her former position of correction officer,

effective January 29, 201@l. 11 10, 14.



4. Hartford Correctional Center
From January 29, 2010, through December 1, 2010, Ms. Hubert was assigned to Hartford
CC, Miller Aff. § 6, but during this time, Ms. Hhert was out of work due to a work-related
injury. Hubert Aff. 6.

a. Administrative Directive 2.7, Employee Conduct, Effective
April 15, 2010

On April 15, 2010, the DOC promulgatedevised Administrative Directive 2.1,
Employee ConducBee generallpr. 15, 2010, Admin. Directive 2.Miller Aff., Ex. B, ECF
No. 121-9. All relevant provisiorare identical to the JanuaBi, 2009, Administrative Directive
21. Additionally the Directive prohibits geessing “any personal electronic wireless
communication device (to include, but not limiteda cellphone, pager,dakberry device, [or]
personal digital assistant (PDA))d. 8 5(B)(34)(a).

b. July 16, 2010 Commission on Human Rights and
Opportunities Complaint

On July 16, 2010, Ms. Hubert submitted agdaint with the Connecticut Commission
on Human Rights and Opportunities (“CHROBee generallyuly 16, 2010, CHRO Complaint
(No. 111014), Defs.” SMF, Ex. 2, ECF No. 121-5it|riMs. Hubert alleged that, on September
11, 2009, Warden Kevin Gause promoted to Correctional Lieutenant. § 4.The promotion
increased her salary by $25,00f). Upon promotion, Captain Sharon McLaurin became Ms.
Hubert’'s immediate supervisdd. Referring to an affirmative action complaint she filed on
December 10, 2009, Ms. Hubert stated:

In my [December 10, 2009] complaint, . | allege, in part, that
Captain McLaurin “disrespected nas a female and professional”,
relating to me as being “Ghett deny me the opportunity for
advancement by not allowing me“tearn the desk duties” and not

giving me the recommendation letteask for. | also alleged in my
complaint that | was “placed in a hostile work environment” with



staff by Captain McLaurin tellingy peers (i.e. leutenant Wayne

Crews, Lieutenant Craig Burnettjeutenant Terrance O’Hanion,

and Lieutenant Mr. Begun) negative things about me “causing them

to dissociate themselves from medlso say in my complaint that |

was told by Captain McLaurin &h “if | don’'t leave York CI

(Correctional Institute) |1 would ba Lieutenant for the rest of my

career.”
Id. 7. Ms. Hubert asserted that she had bekjesiuto harassment and unequal treatment based
on her sexld. 1 8. The Affirmative Action Unit determined that Ms. Hubert's December 10,
2009, complaint was unsubstantiatket.f 9.

In the CHRO complaint, Ms. Hubert statedtthafter Ms. Hubert filed the complaint with
the Affirmative Action Unit, Ms. McLaurin’s harassment increasded{ 10.Specifically, Ms.
Hubert alleged that Ms. McLaurin issuagboor evaluation in December 2009, recommended
Ms. Hubert be transferdeto another facility,and falsely accused Ms. Hubert of doctoring an
obituary to get time off for a funeradl.; see alsdrequest for Funeral Leave at 1, Hubert Dep.,
Ex. 33, ECF No. 121-4 at 163 (showing that Ms. Htibeequest does notatude a supervisor’'s
signature and whether the regtibad been approved omied); Nov. 30, 2009, Attendance
Warning at 1, Hubert Dep., Ex. 21, ECF Nol¥#at 162 (stating that Ms. Hubert’s had
insufficient accrued sick leave and/or sick fanddgve and noting that Ms. Hubert refused to
sign the warning and that a second attendanceingawould result in docked pay and a written
reprimand), and that Ms. McLaurgontinued to deny Ms. Hubetesk training or coaching, July

16, 2010, CHRO Complaint (No. 111014) 19 10-11.Mis_aurin gave Ms. Hubert a direct

order to sign the warning, and Ms. Hubexfused. Nov. 30, 2009, Attendance Warning at 1.

4 Mr. Miller testified a transfer from one fagilito another or one po® another would not
significantly change the officerduties. Miller Aff. § 32see alsdAS Class Specification,
Def.’s SMF, Ex. 6, ECF No. 121-12 (setting ¢l job qualifications for and duties of a
correction officer, making no distition between facility or post).



On September 2, 2010, the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”)
issued a notice indicatyreceipt of Ms. Hubert's CHRO owplaint (No. 1110014) for dual filing
purposes (EEOC Charge No. 16A-2010-01267). D&SIF 1 5. The charge stated that the
EEOC “may suspend its investijon and await issuance of the Agency'’s final finding and
orders.” EEOC Charge No. 16A-2010-01267 dbéfs.” SMF, Ex 3, ECF No.121-6. The charge
also advised that complainants are “encoedaty cooperate fully with the Agencyd.

On August 28, 2013, the CHRO issuedraliing of no cause. Aug. 28, 2013, CHRO No.
111014, Cause Finding, ECF No. 43-1eTimdings pertained solely tbe fact that Ms. Hubert
failed her promotional test period, causing henetert back to an officer from lieutenatd. at
3. On January 10, 2014, the EEOC adopteddHRO findings. Defs.” SMF | 7.

5. Cheshire Correctional Institute

From December 5, 2010, through the time of fitirsg, Ms. Hubert has been assigned to
Cheshire Correctional Institute (“Cheshire CHubert Aff. § 6. Ms. Hubert maintains: “It was
my belief that by the time | got to Cheshire Olas already ready to l#ack balled.” Hubert
Dep. at 38:1-2. Ms. Hubert believed that, agsttire Cl, “everyon&new everything about
[her].” Id. at 38:14—15. According to Ms. Hubert, her CHRO complaint was the topic of rumors
at Cheshire CIld. at 38:18-19. Ms. Hubert could not sifieally recall, but believes it was
Lieutenant Carolyn Hicknrathat informed Ms. Hubert thatipervisors had been talking about
Ms. Hubertld. at 38:22—-25. Ms. Hickman, Ms. Huberstied, told Ms. Hibert that everyone
at Cheshire Cl hated Ms. Hubert andttMs. Hubert “shold transfer out.ld. at 39:4-5.

a. Text Messages from Mr. Callender
Beginning in 2010, while touring the facility, Lieutenant Callender allegedly would

request hugs from Ms. Hubert. Hubert Depl@t16—18. He allegedly asked her for hugs on

10



four-to-five separate occasiond. at 10:22. In 2010, Ms. Hubert aliedly verbally reported this
conduct to Ms. Hickman, but doestmecall Ms. Hickman’s respondel. at 11:16-12:1. Ms.
Hubert again reported Mr. Callender’s coatlio Ms. Hickman in 2011 or 2012, but Ms.
Hickman did not take the report seriougty.at 12:4-9.

When Mr. Davis transferred to Cheshire Mk. Hubert reported Mr. Callender to Mr.
Davis.ld. at 11:1. It was her impression that Ndavis did not takéhe report seriouslyd. at
12:12-1% Ms. Hubert testified at her depositidiThere was nothing preventing [her] from
going to Affirmative Action. [Officers] havehmices, whether [officers] to go Affirmative
Action, whether [officers] get a lawyer, whetlefficers] file it with CHRO. [Officers] don’t
have to directly go to Affirmative Actionld. at 76:22—-77:1see als@&ept. 15, 2008, Directive
2.2 8 9(B)(5) (permitting that @omplaint may be made by filirgcomplaint with the EEOC or
CHRO). She further explained: “Sometimes yast jubave to suck it up and say, you know what |
gotta get this. No one’s gonna help me, sottagewhether I'm acting ke it didn’t happen with
[Mr. Davis]. | gotta basically hold my faith and stay strong for my family, because if | break
down, then | can’'t work and | can’t feed my kidlgan’t pay my son’s tuition.” Hubert Dep. at
81:11-17. She told Mr. Davis about Mr. Callendecause Mr. Davis was her supervisor and
because she felt other people to whom lsad reported Mr. Callender failed to ddt.at 83:3—
84:22.

Because Ms. Hubert allegedbared retaliation, she newaported Mr. Callender to the
Affirmative Action Unit. 13:4—7. She also explathé[E]very report that goes to Affirmative

Action always come[s] back unsubstantiatdd.”at 13:12—-13.

5> Mr. Hubert testified that Mr. Davis has beenlingl her ever since she left Hartford CI. Hubert
Dep. at 80:20-25.

11



In 2011, Mr. Callender allegedly sent Maulbert a text message calling her sexy, and
asking when she was “going to make it happenyvhich she did natespond. Hubert Dep. at
69:8-15. Ms. Hubert allegedly received otherikintext messages from Mr. Callendkgt. at
69:24. Ms. Hubert shared the texts whitr sister and perhaps Ms. Hickmbih.at 70:7-8.

Ms. Hubert testified in her depositiorathshe complained about Mr. Callender’s
“inappropriate harassment” to Director James Dzurenda by writing him a léttatr.75:22-25,
77:12.

After Ms. Hubert complained, Mr. Callenddiegedly began to tredter differently than
before.ld. 69:15-16.

b. The April 29, 2011 Letter

On April 29, 2011, the DOC sent Ms. Hubartetter. Apr. 29, 2011 Ltr. at 1, Hubert
Dep., Ex. 17, ECF No. 121-4 at 198e letter informed Ms. Hulbethat DOC was suspending
Ms. Hubert for one day for @lating Administrative Diretive 2.17 (Employee Conduct) and 6.6
(reporting of incidents)d. A DOC investigation substante that, on December 29, 2009, Ms.
Hubert had misused state property—a compu@OC Stationary, and her DOC position—for
personal gainid. The letter also stated:TThe investigation substéiated that you failed to
report that a co-worker was haragsand threatening you when off dutd:

On January 12, 2012, by written agreementX@& reduced the suspension to a written

violation. See generallgtipulated Agreement, Hubert. Dep, Ex. 18, ECF No. 121-4 at 157.

12



C. October 31, 2011 Incident

On October 31, 2011, Ms. Hubert testified thla¢ was drafted forrt shift, when she
had previously advised her supervisor that shietiva medical appointments later that day. Apr.
23, 2012, CHRO Compl. 11 11-14. Ms. Hubert hamdical condition that causes exceedingly
heavy menstruation. Hubert Dep. at 31:18428ving no choice, Ms. Hubert informed a
supervisor, then Lieutenant Brddollin, that she had to atteradmedical appointment. Apr. 23,
2012, CHRO Compl. 1 16. By that time, menses ‘fimenched” her uniform pants, causing her
embarrassment and humiliatidd. Finally, Mr. Mollin released Ms. Hubert and completed an
incident report. Oct. 31, 2011, Incident Remadrf., Hubert Dep., Ex. 3, ECF No. 121-4 at 110.
As a condition of going home &icMr. Mullins required Ms. Hubettb complete an incident
report.ld.

In the Incident Report 20110-071, Mr. Mollin stated that, while posted as the Desk
Lieutenant, Ms. Hubert wawdered for First Shiftd. Officer Hubert claimed to have a
Worker's Comp. appointment at 10:00naand requested to be relievédl. Mr. Mollin
consulted Ms. Hubert’'s paperwork, in whickete was a note that her doctor’s appointment
scheduled for October 28, 2011, had been rescheduled for November 1d28bbn
thereafter, Mr. Mollin received facsimile from Yale Medical Group stating that Ms. Hubert had
an appointment scheduled for later that ddyMr. Mollin noted the lettr did not include a time
for the appointmentd.; seeOctober 31, 2012, Fax at 1, Hubert Dep., Ex. 3, ECF No. 121-4 at
116 (noting Ms. Hubert’'s October 31, 2011, appmient but not indicating the time).

Mr. Mollin informed Captain Thomas Veras the situation, andyhile doing so, Ms.
Hubert called Mr. Mollin to say she was goimgme sick. Oct. 31, 201hcident Report at 1.

Mr. Mollin, the report notes, regsted an incident report and agkieMs. Hubert needed a ride

13



home, which she declineldl. Ms. Hubert informed Mr. Mollirthat she had blood on her pants
but did not need a new pair of pairits.at 3. According to MrMollin, Ms. Hubert never
informed him that she was experiencing heavy bleediihd/r. Mollin further noted that Ms.
Hubert was the fifth out of fifteen officers whodchbeen held over. Mollin Aff. § 4. He further
explained that he did not ask Mdubert to prepare an incidergport because she had engaged
in protected activityld. 4. He asked Ms. Hubert to prepareincident report after Ms. Hubert
indicated that she was going home sidk.

For her part, Ms. Hubert completed a medinaident report later that day. Oct. 31,
2011, Medical Incident Report At Hubert Dep., Ex. 3, ECF No. 121-4 at 113. In it, she noted
that she was experiencing “abdominal cramgpbleeding, has MD note for F/U appt with
GYN.” Id. She also completed a supplementeidant report. Oct. 31, 2011, Supp. Report,
Hubert Dep., Ex. 3, ECF 121-4 at 124. She explained that someone had informed her that
another female who reported she was siek allowed to go home without issie.at 4.

Ms. Hubert has offered a memorandum dated July 14, 2008, regarding “Sick Leave
Regulations and Proper Protd¢ July 14, 2008, Memo at 1, Pl.’s SMF, Ex. 16, ECF No. 16,
ECF No. 130-24. The memardum provides: “Regardingedical appointment§ec. 5-247-
4(a)(1)states that an eligible employsieall be granted sick leave fanédical, dental or eye
examination or treatment for which arrangemseoannot be made outs of working hourg’

Id. The memorandum also provides that verifimatdf medical appointments are required when
a more than a half workday is used for such purpdges.

Ms. Hubert is unsure whether Mr. Mollin knew of Ms. Hubert’s earlier CHRO case, but

she knew that other supervisdmnew of it. Hubert Aff.  26. Ms. Hubert believes she had

suffered “[r]etaliation because of who [shgdad just retaliation.” Hubert Dep. at 31:8-10.

14



That day, October 31, 2011, Ms. Hubert 3afarden Jon Brighthaupt a letter about the
incident. Defs.” SMF  2&ee generallyDct. 31, 2011, Brighthaujtr., Hubert Dep., Ex. 3,
ECF No. 121-4 at 120. In the letter, Ms. Hubredounted the incident from earlier that day, ant
noted that she felt humiliated, embarrassed hamdssed due to her race and gender. Oct. 31,
2011, Brighthaupt Ltr. at 2. She alleges thattead of allowing Ms. Hubert to attend to a
medical emergency, Mr. Mollin fabricated a reason not to releasilhbts. Hubert also asserts
that she would have had twentydf hours to complete the incidereport; instead, Mr. Mollin
made her complete the report while codeireblood in front of male worker&d. Ms. Hubert
also felt she was being retaliated agailtstat 3.

On January 10, 2012, Mr. Brighthaupt forwatdeletter to DOC’s Affirmative Action
Unit to determine if the incident involved sekbarassment, retaliatioor violated other DOC
regulationsld. 1 28.

d. The December 23, 2011 Incident

On December 23, 2011, Ms. Hubert was plamegaid administrate leave because of
the December 29, 2009, incident involving Ms. Witiss Am. Compl. T 29. Before returning to
work, Ms. Hubert was required tmdergo a “Fit for Duty Examjd. { 31, after which she was
cleared to work. Hubert Dep. at 125:16.

e. Leave

Between December 27, 2011, and March 23, 2012, Ms. Hubert was continuously out of

work on various leave statuses. Lesteft &5, Defs.” SMF, Ex. 7, ECF No. 121-14.

f. April 23, 2012 Commission on Human Rights and
Opportunities Complaint

15



On April 23, 2012, Ms. Hubert filed a complawith the CHRO (No. 1110014), alleging
retaliation since filing august 2010 CHRO complaifitApr. 23, 2012, CHRO Compl. { 11.
ECF No. 43-1 at 25. In it, she mmted the October 31, 2011, incidddt.{ 11-21. Ms. Hubert
raised her denial of medical attention andlmeihg allowed to seek medical treatméaty 22.
Ms. Hubert explained: “Lieutenant Mollinsi€] purposely humiliated, embarrassed and harassed
me, and subject[ed] me to a work environmeat thould be considered hostile to any female
employee. | believe that Lt. MullinsiE] was retaliating against me because | filed a CHRO
complainant $ic].” Id.  16.

She also described the December2Zg,1 incident in further detaild. 1 33.

Specifically, Ms. Hubert alleged that varicather officers, all white men who had committed
violations—e.g, engagement in a physical altercation vattother office or being arrested for
violating a protective order—were nplaced on Administrative Leaviel.

She also described difficulties receiviwgrkers’ compensation payment for work-
related injuriesld. 1 43—47.

g. Leave

Between April 2012 and January 2013, Ms. Htul&as out of work on various leave

statuses, working only March 23-27, 2012fJeSMF § 89; Lester Aff. 1 6—7.

h. June 11, 2012 Amendment of the April 23, 2012 CHRO
Complaint

On June 11, 2012, Ms. Hubert amended the April 23, 2012 CHRO com§flkaént.

generallyJune 11, 2012, CHRO Amend’t. ECF No. 43t112. While incorporating allegations

® Again, the EEOC indicated thiatwould suspend its invéigation and await the CHRO’s
determination (EEOC No. 16a-2012-0091). Def.’s SMF { 13.

16



from the April 23, 2012, CHRO complaint, Msubert outlined furthedifficulties with her
workers’ compensation claim and FMLA leale. 11 8-25, 28-29.

Ms. Hubert also recounted the May 2012 incident, where Captain Bryan Viger
allegedly called Ms. Hubert at home to inform her that she was to attend a Loudermill hearing
for an employee conduct violatiolal. § 26. She explained:

This hearing [was] based on the @allegation[] that | reported via
text message that “I was in a new place no signal I'm need you to
bond me out of jail.” | reported th#tte text was on my son’s phone
and that the text was not truthfldllegations that | was hindering

an investigation becaes didn’'t have the t¢ message in my phone
when the police came to my home are misleading and false. At the
time of the incident | was off duty, at home, minding my own

business. . . . This case wasngeinvestigated by Captain Kelly
from security division.

According to Ms. Hubert, on May 18, 201fie Deputy Commissioner’s secretary called
to inform Ms. Hubert that her meeting withe Deputy Commissioner hbsen canceled because
of Ms. Hubert’s pending CHRO complaitd.  27.

I. Kyle Godding’s August 16, 2012 Text Message

Ms. Hubert testified that she was frierwdish Mr. Godding until he sent Ms. Hubert
photographs of his penis. Hubert Aff. {1 67-6&er than telling her husband, Ms. Hubert
allegedly did not report the text message to anyone at DOC because, at the time, she was on
leave. Hubert Aff. 1 71. Ms. Hubert testifiecgthconsistent with DO@dministrative Directive
(“Directive”), she “reached out to” the Peanent Commission on the Status of Women,
Directive 2.2 § 9(C)(5), Ex. C, ECF No. 121{The independent consultant appointed by the

Permanent Commission on the Status of Women (PCSW)), and to her therapist, pastor,
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friends, and family. Hubert Aff. § 71. Albugh Ms. Hubert had asked Mr. Godding to stop
calling Ms. Hubert, he cdaimued to e-mail her asking to her meet with hidhat I 72.
J- Michael Davis’s Text Message

Mr. Davis also sent Ms. Hubert sexuallypégit text messages from his personal mobile
telephone. Defs.” SMF § 123. Ms. Hubert testifiledt Mr. Davis took a photograph of his penis
and sent it to Ms. Hubert. Hubert Dep. at 314:343. Hubert believes it was Mr. Davis that sent
the photograph because he called her from his on cellphone after he sent the phdtbgraph.
314:10-11.

K. Kevin Curry’s Text

Mr. Hubert testified that, shortly afteresgiking with Mr. Davis, Mr. Curry, by text
message, sent Ms. Hubert a ggyaph of Mr. Curry’s penidd. at 314:24-25. She then called
Mr. Curry on the telephone, and Mr. Curry apologiltbchat 314:25-315:6.

l. The January 30, 2013 Letter

Ms. Hubert first notified someone about gending of sexually explicit photographs on
January 30, 2013, when she returned to work feawe, Hubert Aff. § 71, in advance of a pre-
disciplinary hearing. Jan. 30, 2013, Hubert btrl, Hubert Dep., Ex. 7, ECF No. 121-4. The
disciplinary hearing involved the situation betweds. Hubert and Ms. Williams and resulted in
Ms. Hubert being placeah administrative leavéd. at 120:19-25. In the letter, Ms. Hubert
accused Ms. Williams of trying to break up Ms. Hubert's marriage. Hubert Ltr. at 1. Ms. Hubert
alleged that Ms. Williams falsified an incident report about Ms. Hubert, from which the pre-
disciplinary hearing aroséd. at 4.

In the letter Ms. Hubert sebefore the hearing, she stated: “Captain Kelly never gave me

a direct order to give him my phone, | told him there vg&3 inappropriate text messages,” but
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did send to Mr. Kelly a copy of the text ssage exchanged between Ms. Williams and Ms.
Hubert. Hubert Ltr. at - The letter continued:

If the Department is going to harmdit discipline for a lie[,] then
every supervisor from Wardens @aptains and Officers that have
sent pictures to my cell phonef their penis[es] should be
discipline[d] as well, this is a @lation of 2:17 empmlyee conduct, it
was not wanted. . . . | will hand overe pictures of supervisors[’]
penis and text messages to my lawyer after I’'m disciplined for the
lie that was told.

Id. at 5-6. Mr. Kelly attempted to interview Mdubert about Mr. Davis, Mr. Curry, and Mr.
Godding allegedly sending Ms. Hubert texts messagé¢heir genitals, duMs. Hubert declined
to participate; instead, she clkeds “plead the fifth.” Defs.SMF § 125. Ms. Hubert testified:
“[T]here was no reason for me to talk to Captidelly ‘cause he alrety had interviewed me.”
Hubert Dep. at 110:14-16. Ms. Hubexplained that she declinedparticipate in the Security
Division investigation: “iwas tired, and I'm not gonnd ¢hrough a hearing of liesld. at
109:23-24. The DOC disciplined Ms. Hubert becalsewas “less than truthful” during the
Security Division investigatiorid. at 108:3-5. As part of thavestigation, Mr. Kelly also
contacted Mr. Davis, who denied sendMg. Hubert sexuallgxplicit photos.

On June 24, 2013, as a result of the heatirgPOC suspended Ms. Hubert for one day
of work, stating: “Your failure to adhere tlepartment directives sfplayed poor judgment on
your part and breached the standard of condatigrexpected of Quartment of Correction
employees.” June 24, 2013, Ltr. at 1, Hubert Dep., Ex. 22, ECF No. 121-4 at 159.

Ms. Hubert testified that stdid not grieve or challengbe suspension. Defs.” SMF |
101. According to Ms. Hubert, the suspensiomtdi mean anything to [her].” Hubert Dep. at
194:14.

m. The May 23, 2013 Letter from Affirmative Action
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On May 23, 2013, Holly Quackenbush Darin, Aférmative Action Unit Manager, sent
Ms. Hubert a letter. May 23, 201&ffirmative Action Ltr. at 1, Pl.’s SMF, Ex. 9, ECF No. 130-
25. The letter referred to Ms. Hubert's Janyu@0, 2013, letter, spdaally Ms. Hubert’s
allegation that her supervisdrad sent text messages to Msibert that included sexually
explicit photographdd. The letter also noted that Judy Qar@n investigatoassigned to the
matter, had attempted to schedule an intervigév Ms. Hubert, but Ms. Hubert refused to
participate in the interviewd. Ms. Hubert testified: “[T]h&[she] didn’t have trust in
Affirmative Action.” Hubert Dg. at 111:1-2. Ms. Hubert maintaithat Ms. Garcia informed
Ms. Hubert that her refusal to participate ia thvestigation warrante@porting Ms. Hubert for
discipline.ld. at 111:9-11. To which Ms. Hubertsponded: “Well, then have warden
Brighthaupt discipline me, because at this time pleading the Fifth and | fear for my safety, at
the request of my counselotd. at 12-15.

Ms. Darin’s letter advised Ms. Hubert thhe investigation would go forward, without
taking any additional statements from Ms. Hubklay 23, 2013, Affirmative Action Ltr. at 1.

n. May or June 2013 Performance Evaluation

Sometime in either May or June 201Blr. Callender issueMs. Hubert an NP-4
Performance Appraisal; he provided her withoaerall rating of successful. NP-4 Performance
Appraisal for Period Sept. 1, 2010-Aug. 31, 2011 @P&rformance Appraisal”), Hubert Dep.,
Ex. 6, ECF No. 121-4 at 143. Ms. Hubert maintdivat it was a “horrible evaluation” after
having received four years of@llent evaluations. Hubert Degit. 71:15-19. On the evaluation,

which Ms. Hubert refused to sign, she wrétéow could Lieutenant Callender give me an

" The Court notes that the euation includes several signatuweith various associated dates
ranging from May 20, 2013, to July Z013. Performance Appraisal at 2—-3.
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evaluation and feel comfortablbaut it after [h]e was [a]lso ored the supervisors sending me
(text messages).” Performance Apigal at 3. She admits that gd not specify the nature of
the text messages; nor did she show anyone the text mesdagsl2—14. In any event, Ms.
Hubert claims that a supervisor textingadficer, while she is at home is inappropridte.at
72:12-22. According to Ms. Hubeds a captain, Mr. Taylowho signed the evaluation, was
supposed to immediately make a complaint whih Affirmative Action Unit on Ms. Hubert’s
behalf.ld. at 70:17-19.

0. The Closing of Ms. Hubert'sAffirmative Action Complaint

On July 24, 2013, the Affirmative Action Unit nfiéid Ms. Hubert that investigation of
her complaint (Case #AA13-500) had beempleted and the alleged violation of
Administrative Directive 2.2 contained in [Mdubert’s January 30, 2013, Letter] could not be
substantiated “due to [Ms. Hubert’s] unwilliness to provide a statement.” July 24, 2013,
Affirmative Action Ltr. at 1, Hube Dep., Ex. 10, ECF No. 121-4.

After Ms. Hubert received tHetter from the Affirmative Action Unit, she sent the two
photographs that had been sent to likrat 115:1-6. She maintaithat she sent the
photographs attached to a letter she setitadAffirmative Action Unit by certified maild. at
116:10-16. The letter was about DOC'’s denyingdiemotion and accusing her of being less
than truthfulld. at 116:16-117:12.

Ms. Hubert testified that she spoke with NBarcia, but Ms. Hubert could not recall the
nature of the visitld. at 134:1. She claims to have sigmestatement about sexual harassment.
Id. at 134:16-21. Ms. Garcia also asked Ms. Hiulvbether Ms. Hubertared to elaborate on
the photographs Ms. Hubert submitted to Ms. Gatdiaat 135:24—-1. Ms. Hubeexplained that

the photographs were sent to her cellphone andvkaHubert did not want to speak with Ms.
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Garcia at the time because Ms. Hubert's attohmay advised Ms. Hubembt to speak about the
photographsld. at 135:1-5. Ms. Hubert showed Mzarcia no other photographs, and Ms.
Garcia did not ask to see other photograpthsat 135:8-16.

p. The Commissary Housing Incident

One evening when Ms. Hubert was workmmgertime, Mr. Davis allegedly entered the
commissary housing unit, where Ms. Huberswarking a solo post. Hubert Dep. at 50:25—
61:17. Ms. Hubert stood from behind herldeend Mr. Davis allegily began groping Ms.
Hubert, grabbing her buttocks and kissing her nketlat 52:1-6. She pushed him awh).at
52:10. Fearing retaliatioh]s. Hubert did noteport the incidentd. at 52:11-16.

Mr. Davis allegedly continuallgalled Ms. Hubert on the telephome. at 52:21-22. She
does not recall their conversatiott.at 53:14. Ms. Hubert had nomtact with Mr. Davis after
2013, although he tried to connect with Ms. Hubert through Facebook inld0&653:7-24.

g. The May 17, 2014 Incident

On May 17, 2014, Mr. Callender issued Ms. Hulaeldte slip for being late to work by
three minutes. Defs.” SMF | 43.taf arriving at work at 10:38.m., Ms. Hubert called in to
report she was, in fact, at work. HubertDat 15:25-16:7. Ms. Hubert then went to the
restroom off the lunchroom to change henstrual pad. Defs.” SMF {1 45-46. While she was
using the restroom, Mr. Callendgltegedly sent an officer tmang on the lunchroom restroom
door and tell Ms. Hubert to come out of thetreom. Hubert Dep. at 16:10-17. Due to using the
restroom, Ms. Hubert was late for roll c&llallender Dep. at 26:13-19, Defs.” SMF, Ex. 6, ECF
No. 121-13. In the comment section on the late 8Ms. Hubert wrote about her condition and
explained that she suffered from prolonged blegdivhich required her to frequently change her

menstrual pad. Hubert Dep., Ex.s&e alsdVay 5, 2014, 2nd Notice of Tardiness at 1, Pl.’s

22



SMF, Ex. 12, ECF No. 130-28 (noting: “By the timartive at work , my pads are soaked. . . .
had to change my pad. Did not come in for roll call.”).

Mr. Callender denies that he sent an offilwethe lunchroom restroom. Callender Dept.
at 26:10-11. Only after roll calldiMs. Hubert tell Mr. Callender where she had been. Callender
Dep. at 26:13-15.

Ms. Hubert recognized that her post wakansing unit control, where there was a
restroom, and where she was statiomedat 17:4—6. According to Ms$iubert, she did not feel
comfortable using the housing urgistroom with a single male officer on post because an officer
at the Hartford Correctional Center hadently been charged as a serial rafdstat 17:8-19.

Ms. Hubert contends that, agesult of the late slip, slwas denied weapons trainihg.
at 95:4.

Mr. Viger testified by affidavit that, ween 2013 and 2014, four female corrections
officers had received weapons training, threelodm were officers assigned to CCI. Viger Aff.
11 5-6.

r. May 23, 2014 Family Medicine Center Letter

In a letter dated May 23, 2014, Mdpy Guerrera, MD, issueletter addressed to: “To
whom it may concern.” May 23, 2014, Guerrera htrl, Hubert Dep., Ex. 3, ECF No. 121-7 at
136. It stated: “As [Ms. Hubert’s] [p]hysician | ite this letter to onfirm that she has a gyn
condition that may cause her to have heavy meaistperiod bleeding thaequires her to use
the bathroom / restroom togperly change her femmininsi§] products up to every three (3)
hours as neededld.

S. June 8, 2014 Incident
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On June 8, 2014, Ms. Hubert felt that hemsteual pad was saturated. Hubert Dep. at
97:2-3. She called Mr. Callender to askdoverage while she used the restrotimat 97:6-8.
Mr. Callender allegedly responded: “You're imeonvenience on the shift,” and slammed down
the telephondd. at 97:22-98:2. It was a “few or &&n minutes” before someone came to
relieve Ms. Hubert so shcould use the restroomd. at 98:4—12.

Ms. Hubert maintains that, in 2014, she ctamed to Deputy Warden Walker. Defs.’
SMF § 39. Ms. Hubert allegedly called Ms. Walked told Ms. Walkeabout “[e]verything as
far as [Mr. Callender], from the bleeding, fromatliMr. Callender wasdoing], the evaluations .

. . what was going on.” Hubert Dep. at 87:12—14. Misbert claims that Ms. Walker responded:
“It is my impression that you er—you are not being harasseldl’ at 86:21-22. Ms. Hubert also
sent letters to Ms. Walker, including onewhich Ms. Hubert sought from Ms. Walker an
incident report number regarding Ms. Hubert reporting Mr. Callender, because “without an
incident report, [the itident] never happenedd. at 88:4-13see alsdMay 27, 2014, Ltr. to

Ms. Walker at 1, Hubert Dep. Ex. 3, ECF No. ¥at 140 (including a handwritten note stating:
“IRs don’t get stamped. It has been issuetd GTI-2014-05-052. Dr note to HR for File. . . .
[Dated] 5/28/2014.” In the othertters, Ms. Hubert inquiredbout promotional opportunities.

Hubert Dep. at 88:4.

8 Ms. Hubert has offered a memorandum dakene 26, 2003, issued by then-Commissioner
Theresa C. Lantz, the subject of which4sro Tolerance.” Jun26, 2003, Lantz Memo., Pl.’s
SMF, App., Ex. B, ECF No. 130-34. The memoramdacluded a provision entitled “Restroom
Issue,” which states: “Restroormadilities and restroom breaks shall be provided to employees of
the Department such that employees shall ordyn@ceive restroom feef within 20 minutes

from the time of a request for sam&d” at ECF No. 130-34 at 27.
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Mr. Miller testified that dedions about eligibility for promotion to lieutenant are
determined by Human Resources and the Comomssiof the Department of Correction, Miller
Aff. § 17, and that deputy wardens, captaarg] lieutenants do not make these decisiohs.

Mr. Miller also testifiel that there were no promotionslieutenant in 2012, because the
lieutenant exam expired in fro8008 expired on September 20IdL.J 18. The DOC did not
offer another lieutenant promotional exantilidovember 2012, and the first hires from this
exam list were made in February 20LkB.9 19. The November 2012 promotional exam expired
in November 2014d. § 20. The next lieutenant promotidexam was offered in February
2015.1d. T 21.

In 2013, the DOC determined that Ms. Hulweass ineligible for promotion because of
her disciplinary recordd. § 22. In 2013, the DOC promoted eight black females to lieutenant,
including one at Cheshire ad. § 23.

t. Ms. Hubert’'s Letter June 8, 2014 Letter
to Mr. Brighthaupt

On June 8, 2014, Ms. Hubert sent a lettavitoBrighthaupt. In the letter Ms. Hubert
stated: “I am the victim of continuous harasstraend retaliation.” June 8, 2014, Brighthaupt Ltr.
at 1, Pl.’'s SMF, Ex. 15, ECF No. 130-32. She thestdbed being assigned to third shift in May
2011, receiving a late slip on May 17, 2014, ey 19, 2014, bathroom incident, her May 19,
2014 conversation with Ms. Walker, the Juh014, bathroom incident, and the June 8, 2014,
bathroom incidentd. at 1-3.

B. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

In July 2010, Ms. Hubert filed a complaint with the CHRO charging a supervisor with
retaliatory discrimination. The EEOC issuedght-to-sue letter idanuary 2014. In April 2012,

Ms. Hubert filed a second complaint with €, which she amended in June 2012, complaining
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of two separate incidents, and alleging thrgeesste incidences oftediation. In February 2014,
the CHRO issued a releasf-jurisdiction letter.

In April 2014, Ms. Hubert and Etienne Hubgled this lawsuit against the DOC and the
individual defendants in theafficial and individual capadigs. ECF No. 1. On October 2014,
Ms. Hubert amended the Complaint, whistihe operative Complaint. ECF No. 10.

On June 11, 2015, Defendants moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint under Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)fTor lack of subject-matter jisdiction, 12(b)(2 for lack of
personal jurisdiction, 12(b)(5) for insufficient sex@iof process, and 12(b)(6) for failure to state
a claim. ECF No. 40.

In response, Ms. Hubert voluartly withdrew Count Twelvef the Amended Complaint,
which alleged a breach of the implied cover@rgood faith and fair dealing against Individual
Defendants. The remaining twelve counts deseclaims against various Defendants for
violations of Title VII of the CiviRights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 200@t,seq(“Title VII”);
the Connecticut Fair Employment Practices,&onn. Gen. Stat. § 46a-60(a) (“CFEPA”); 42
U.S.C. 88 1981, 1983, 1985, 1986, and 1988; and stamhmon law. Specifically, Counts One
and Five asserted violations of Title VII agdia Defendants; Counts Three and Four asserted
violations of CFEPA against all Defendan@xyunts Nine and Ten alleged sexual harassment
against Defendants Davis and Callender, raspryg; Counts Six and Eight alleged battery
against Defendants Davis and Austin, respegtjv@bunt Seven alleged false imprisonment
against Defendant Davis; Count Two alleged loss of consortium against all Defendants; Count
Eleven alleged both negligent and intentianéliction of emotional distress against all
Defendants; and Count Thirteen allegealations of rights under 42 U.S.C. 88§ 1981, 1983,

1985, 1986, and 1988 against Defendants DO®isdD&odding, Austin, and Callender.
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The Court dismissed all claims against Mavis, Mr. Godding, MrCurry, Mr. Austin,
and Mr. Callender in their individual capacitieglesseveral of Ms. Hubert's claims. The Court
allowed the following counts toroceed: (1) Count One as to the DOC and the Individual
Defendants in their official capacities; (2) Cotrnte as to the DO@nd Individual Defendants
in their official capacities; (3) Count Nine, taetlbxtent it asserts claimsder Title VII, as to
Mr. Davis in his official capacity(4) Count Ten, to the extentasserts claims under Title VII,
as to Mr. Callender in his official capacity; (5) Count Thirteen, to the extent it asserts claims
under 42 U.S.C. 88 1985, 1986, and 1988 as to the &@Che Individual Defendants Davis,
Godding, Austin, and Callendertineir official capacities. The Court also dismissed Etienne
Hubert’s sole claim of loss of consantn and dismissed him from this case.

The parties then engaged in discoveryjmuwhich the Court entered the following
orders. On June 30, 2016, the Court ordered Mbek to “produce to Defendants all materials
responsive to all outstanding discovery regaietntified on today’s [|] Telephonic Conference
by July 15, 2016.” ECF No. 88. Because of Ms. Hubdack of compliance “with deadlines in
this case or to meet her disery obligations,” the Court s& firm deadline for the production
of the outstanding discovery requests: July2ld,6. Any of the materialnot produced by that
date may not be used by Plaintifftie prosecution of this litigationld. (citations and internal
guotation marks omitted) (“[P]reclusion of evidence [is] necessary tachieve the purpose of
Rule 37 as a credible deterrent rather than a paper tiger.”) (quotation marks omitted).

On September 19, 2016, Defendants sought an@¢thurt denied Defendant’s request for
a discovery conference. Insteade @Bourt reiterated the sigrifince of its June 30th Ord&ee

ECF No. 99 (noting that sixty gla had passed since the deadline for Ms. Hubert to comply in
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producing certain documents andering that she was precludigdm relying on any documents
she had failed to produce when opposing dispositive motions) (internal citation omitted).

Three months later, on November 15, 2016, the Court denied Ms. Huher€$ro tunc
filing and explicitly stated: “[T]he Coamwill no longer consider any futureinc pro tuner
untimely filings by Plaintiff in this case” andahMs. Hubert must comply with all future
deadlinesld. Nov. 11, 2016, Order at 1, ECF No. 109. The Court noted that Ms. Hubert had
repeatedly failed to meet deadlineslaomply with this Court’s orderSee, e.g. ECF No. 47
(noting that Ms. Hubert filed motion for extension of timaunc pro tuncto respond to
Defendants’ motion to dismiss twenty-six dayter the deadline pashe ECF No. 50 (noting
that Ms. Hubert failed to timely file her resg@nand instead sought a&sed extension of time,
nunc pro tuny; ECF No. 55 (noting Ms. Hubert's failute file her response to Defendants’
motion to dismiss and again seeking an extension¢ pro tuncand then after three extensions
of time Ms. Hubert filed her sponse nine days after thadl deadline); ECF No. 66 (denying
Ms. Hubert’'s motionnunc pro tuncfor an extension of time tdé a sur-reply to Defendants’
motion to dismiss); ECF No. 84 (noting that Maibert missed the delate to respond to
Defendants’ discovery requests and filednc pro tuncfor an extension of time to respond);
ECF No. 89 (noting that Ms. Hbert must provide all mataits responsive to outstanding
discovery requests by a date aerj; ECF No. 97 (noting Ms. ttbert’s failure to abide by a
court-imposed deadline for production); ECF no. 1&i(g that sixty days had passed since the
deadline the Court had set flwcument production and precludikty. Hubert from relying on
any documents that she failedpiduce by a date certain).

On April 7, 2017, Defendants moved for summaggment. ECF No. 121. On April 13,

2017, Defendants also moved to dismiss the ¢aimpunder Federal Rueof Civil Procedure
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37(b) or 41(b). ECF No. 126. On May 8, 2017, Mabert opposed Defendants motion to dismiss
and moved to reconsider the Cosiflovember 15, 2016, Order, ECF No. 110.

On November 4, 2017, Ms. Hutbenoved to consolidatelubert v. State of Connecticut
Department of Correctiqr8:17-cv-248 (VAB) (D. Conn. Feb. 1B017), with this case. ECF No.
141. On December 11, 2017, the Court heard oral argument. ECF Nb. 143.

Il. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A motion for summary judgmentill be granted if the read shows no genuine issue as
to any material fact, and the movant is entitegudgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. Civ. P.
56(a). The moving party bears the initial burdeestiblishing the absence of a genuine dispute
of material factCelotex Corp. v. Cartretd77 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). The non-moving party may
defeat the motion by producing sufficient specificté to establish that there is a genuine issue
of material fact for trialld. at 324. “[T]he mere existence dmealleged factual dispute
between the parties will not defeat ahertwvise properly supported motion for summary
judgment; the requirement is that there begaouineissue ofmaterialfact.” Anderson v. Liberty
Lobby, Inc, 477 U.S. 242, 247-48 (1986). A fact is “mat@rifait “might affect the outcome of
the suit under the governing law,” and is “genuine” if “a reasonable jury could return a verdict
for the nonmoving party” based onld. at 248. “[O]nly admissible edence need be considered
by the trial court in ruling on a motion for summary judgmeRtfter v. Quarantillg 722 F.3d

94, 97 (2d Cir. 2013) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

° The Court notes that, at oral argument, Msbett's counsel conceded that she has abandoned
her claim of race-based dismination under Title VII. The Cotitherefore considers the claim
waived.See Paul v. Bank of Am., N.Alo. 3:11-cv-0081 (JCH), 2011 WL 5570789, at *2 (D.
Conn. Nov. 16, 2011) (When a partyffer[s] no response’ to itspponent’s motion to dismiss

a claim, that claim is abandoned.” (citiNplinari v. Bloomberg564 F.3d 587, 609 n.15 (2d

Cir. 2009)).
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Any inferences drawn from the facts must be donée light most favorable to the party
opposing the summary judgment moti@ee Dufort v. City of New Yoi&74 F.3d 338, 343 (2d
Cir. 2017). An inference of a genuine disputenaiterial fact, however, cannot be drawn from
conclusory allegations or deniaee Brown v. Eli Lilly & C9.654 F.3d 347, 358 (2d Cir.
2011).

[I. DISCUSSION

A. Ms. Hubert’'s Statement of Material Facts

As an initial matter, the @urt will address Ms. Hubertsubmission in opposition to the
DOC’s motion for summary judgment. The DO@ues that, due to the deficiencies in Ms.
Hubert's Statement of Materikhcts, the Court shaidisregard Ms. Huber’'s Statement in its
entirety. The Court agrees.

The requirements for an opposition to summadgment are set forth in the District of
Connecticut’s Local Rule of Civil Procedus6. The Rule requires that a party opposing
summary judgment must file a statement of matdaicts, “which shall include a reproduction of
each numbered paragraph in the moving pautycal Rule 56(a)l Statement followed by a
response to each paragraph admitting or denyintathhe@nd/or objecting to the fact.” L.R. 56.
This statement must also include a separate section entitled “Additional Material Facts”
separately setting forth numbenedragraphs any additional factot previously set forth in
responding to the movant’'s Statement of Matd-act that the party opposing summary
judgment contends establish gerauissues of material fact precluding judgment in favor of the
moving partyld. Each statement of material fact and each denial must be followed by a
“specific citation to (1) the affidavof a withess competent to testdyg to the facts at trial, or (2)

other evidence that woulitk admissible at trial Id.
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Ms. Hubert’'s Statement of Material Fagsmproper because she has offered not a
single admission or denigeeD. Conn. L. Civ. R. 56(a)(2) €éguiring that the party opposing
summary judgment “admit[ ] or deny[ ] the facts and/or object[ ] to the fact as permitted by
Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 56(c)”); F&.Civ. P. 56(c)(2) (permitting objections when
“material cited to support or dispute a fachicat be presented in a form that would be
admissible evidence”). The complete absenadafissions or denialsrtistrate Rule 56(a)’s
purpose of clarifying whetlea genuine dispute of material fact existaston-Smith v. CSAA
Fire & Cas. Ins. Cq.No. 3:16-cv-510 (JCH), 2017 WL 6459552, at *1 n.2 (D. Conn. Dec. 15,
2017).

Ms. Hubert's Statement of Material Facts disits to comply with the requirement that
she provide “a specific citation (&) the affidavit of a withess competent to testify as to the facts
at trial, or (2) other evidence that woulddmmissible at trial.Local Rule 56(a)(3).

For example, in paragraph thirty-threehef Statement of Material Facts, she states:
“When a male officer was throwing up, he veant home; the Plaintiff was bleeding heavily,
and she was made to stand in soiled clothes aid kgpt at the job.” Fosupport, Ms. Hubert
cites to twelve pages from ha@eposition transcript. In paraguasixty of the Statement, she
provides a quotation of two sentences, and, in support of those two sensbecgtes to eleven
pages in her deposition transcript. In yet Apoexample, in paragraph forty-nine of her
Statement, she offers: “Defendant Davis aent various pornographic text messages to the
Plaintiff depicting people having sex.” For thihie cites thirty-two consecutive pages of Mr.
Davis’s deposition transcript. those pages, Mr. Davis expresstated that he did not send the

text messages. Davis Dep. at 2@B's SMF, Ex. 2, ECF No. 130-13.
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In the absence of meaningftations to the record, the Court may “deem([ ] certain facts
that are supported by the evidence admitted.” Local Rule 56(a@@)t. Teddy Bear Co., Inc.

v. 1-800 BEARGRAM Cd73 F.3d 241, 244 (2d Cir. 2004) (in adjudicating summary judgment,
courts “must be satisfied that the citatioretadence in the recordipports the assertion”);

Dolan v. Select Portfolio Servicindlo. 03-cv-3285, 2016 WL 3512196, at *1 n.4 (E.D.N.Y.
June 22, 2016) (“Where a party either (i) adroit$ii) denies without citing to admissible
evidence facts alleged in the oppmsparty’s Local Rule 56.1 S&nent, the Court shall deem
such facts undisputed.”August v. Dep’t of Correctiong24 F. Supp. 2d 363, 365 n.2 (D. Conn.
2006) (same)Cashman v. RicigliandNo. Civ. 3:02-cv-1423 (MRK), 2004 WL 1920798, at *1
n.2 (D. Conn. Aug. 25, 2004) (deeming facts lroaal Rule 56(a)(1) Statement admitted
because the opposing party did filet a Local Rule 56(a)(2) Stament). The Court therefore
deems the facts in the DOC'’s Local Rule 56(agtdjement admitted, to the extent that the facts
are supported by the record.

Finally, Ms. Hubert’'s Statement of MatakiFacts includes hesay, speculation, legal
conclusions, and unsupported fa8se, e.gPl.’s SMF { 1 (statinthat DOC “selectively
enforces its policies”)d. § 2 (“The Defendant also discrimiea against the Plaintiff . . .”)l. |
23 (“Defendant Godding began sexudirassing the Plaintiff . . . .")l. T 17 (stating
“Defendant Austin contributed to the sexydilarassing environment at the DOC by harassing
and twice sexually assaulting the Plaintiff,” yet.Miibert’s deposition &nscript, to which she
cited, merely states that Ms. Hubert allelyrs Austin’s harassmertarted in 1999 and after
2002 she had no furtheontact with him)jd. 1 32 (‘When another officer called him, he
answered that officer. That is retaliation! (emphasis in original))d. { 54 (stating, while

citing solely to her own testimony, “Plaintigarned that and experienced that when sexual
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harassment complaints were filed ‘they have come back unsubstantiated™); Smith Aff. § 15,
Pl.’s SMF, App’x C (“On infornation and belief, these ‘sexuzts’ were very commonplace at
the DOC ... .").

“Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e), only admissiblédewmice may be used to resist a motion for
summary judgment . . . Rohman v. New York City Transit Auth. (NYCTAP F.3d 208, 218
n.6 (2d Cir. 2000)see, e.g.McCloskey v. Union Carbide Cor@15 F. Supp. 78, 81 (D. Conn.
1993) (“A party may not rely on mere speculation @mjecture as to the true nature of the facts
to overcome a motion for summary judgmeiiiternal quotation marks omitted) (quoting
Knight v. U.S. Fire Ins. Cp804 F.2d 9, 12 (2d Cir.1986Nentura v. Town of Manchestéto.
CIV. 3:06-cv-630 (EBB), 2008 WL 4080099, at *6.(Donn. Sept. 2, 2008) (“Legal conclusions
offered by both lay and expert withesses arermssible because it is not for a witness to
instruct the court on the law.” (citation omitted)D. v. Bd. of Educ. of City Sch. Dist. of City of
New York 690 F. Supp. 2d 193, 216 (S.D.N.Y. 201(QM(aterials submitted by a party in
connection with a summary judgment motionstioe ‘made on personal knowledge.’ This
requirement is not satisfied by assertions made ‘on information and belief’ . . . .” (citation and
internal quotation marks omitted)).

Given that Ms. Hubert's Statement of Madé Facts and suppontj affidavits contain
inadmissible evidence, the Court declines to carditem. The Court alsmwtes that, it is under
no obligation to “review portionsf the record in response aomotion, where the moving and
opposition papers do not make specific referenseith portions of the record.” L.R. 7(a)(3).

Accordingly, all properly supporte@dtual allegations are undisputed.
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B. Title VII

Ms. Hubert pursues three theoraddiability under Title VII: (1)quid pro quosexual
harassment; (2) hostile working environment; andégliation. The Court Wiaddress each of
Ms. Hubert’s claims in turn.

Title VII makes it “an unlawful employment actice for an employer . . . to discriminate
against any individual with respt to his compensation, ternegnditions, or privileges of
employment, because of such individual’'ssex.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-2(a)(1). Under Title VII,
claims of employment discrimination and retata are governed by the burden shifting analysis
the Supreme Court establishedMoDonnell Douglas Corporation v. Grege#All U.S. 792
(1973).SeeWeinstock v. Columbia Unj\224 F.3d 33, 42 (2d Cir. 2000) (citation omitted)
(analyzing Title VII sex discrimination claimsprey v. City of Norwalk Bd. of Edu&04 F.
Supp. 2d 314, 321-22, 328-29 (D. Conn. 2004) (evalgatnstructive did@arge and hostile
work environment claimander Title VIl and CFEPAReed v. A.\W. Lawrence & Co., In85
F.3d 1170, 1177-78 (2d Cir. 1996) (in the context Bitie@ VIl retaliation claim). Under this
framework, Ms. Hubert bears thetial burden of establishing@ima faciecase See Weinstocgk
224 F.3d at 42.

Once plaintiff has madem@ima facieshowing on all elements of each claim, “the burden
then shifts to the employer tarticulate a legitimate, cleaspecific and nondiscriminatory
reason’ for its actions.Grey, 304 F. Supp. 2d at 322 (quotiQuaratino v. Tiffany & Cq.71
F.3d 58, 64 (2d Cir. 1995)3ee alsdlerry v. Ashcroft336 F.3d 128, 137-38, 140-41 (2d Cir.
2003) (citations omitted) (in the Title VIace and gender discrimination and retaliation
contexts). If the employer makes this showing tfe case to continysst summary judgment,

the plaintiff then must “estaish by a preponderance of the ende that the employer’s stated
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reason was merely a pretext for discriminatid®®e&Grey, 304 F. Supp. 2d at 322 (citiftgeves
v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., In830 U.S. 133, 143 (2000)).

As a preliminary matter, all Title VII aims brought against any of the individual
defendants in their official capéies must be dismissed. Ms. Hubargues Title VII permits suit
against individually named defendamgheir official capacities. lis well-settled that this is not
the caseSee, e.glittlejohn v. City of New York795 F.3d 297, 313 (2d Cir. 2015) (“Title VII
does not create liability in inddual supervisors and co-wornsewho are not the plaintiffs’
actual employers.” (internal qudian marks omitted) (quotinBaspardo v. Carlone/70 F.3d
97, 113 (2d Cir. 2014)Patterson v. Cty. of Oneida, N, 875 F.3d 206, 221 (2d Cir. 2004)
(internal quotations and markg)l]ndividuals are not subjedb liability under Title VIL.");
Tomka v. Seiler Corp66 F.3d 1295, 1313 (2d Cir. 1998progated on other ground$We
now hold that individual defendantvith supervisory control over plaintiff may not be held
personally liable under Title VII.")The Court therefore grantsmamary judgment as to Ms.
Hubert’s Title VII claims against Mr. Godualy, Mr. Davis, Mr. Culy, Mr. Austin, and Mr.
Callender. DOC therefore is the only remaining Defendant for purposes of the Court’s Title VII
analysis.

1. Exhaustion of Administrative Remedies

Defendants argue that Ms. Hubert failecgxtaust administrative remedies. Ms. Hubert
does not dispute that she failed to exhaust admatigt remedies with respect to some of her
claims; instead, she argues that her claimsesgonably related to hadministrative filings
and, thus, she need not exhabem before the CHRO &EOC. The Court disagrees.

A plaintiff alleging employmentliscrimination under Title VII may not seek relief in a

federal court until the plaintiff timely exhaustdministrative remedies before the U.S. Equal
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Employment Opportunity Commission (‘(EEOCHansen v. Jones Lang LaSalle Americas,, Inc.
103 F. Supp. 3d 221, 222 (D. Conn. 2015). “Before bringiiigle VII suit in federal court, an
individual must first present theatins forming the basis of suclsait . . . in a complaint to the
EEOC or the equivalent state agendyittlejohn, 795 F.3d at 322 (citation omitted and internal
guotation marks omitted).

a. The July 2010 Commission on Human Rights and
Opportunities Complaint

In Ms. Hubert’'s July 2010 CRO Complaint, she alleged that Ms. McLaurin subjected
her to discrimination on account of her gendee THRO complaint alleged that Ms. McLaurin
dropped Ms. Hubert from a lieutenant positiometaliation for Ms. Hubert making an earlier
CHRO complaint against Ms. Mcluan. Ms. Hubert properly exliated administrative remedies
with respect to Ms. McLaurin’s alleged retdbry discrimination, anthe DOC does not dispute
this fact.

b. The December 2011 Commission on Human Rights and
Opportunities Complaint, as Amended on June 11, 2012

On April 23, 2012 Ms. Hubert filed a claimitivthe CHRO, which she amended on July
11, 2012. In that CHRO complaint, Ms. Hubert neakenumber of allegatns. Relevant to this
matter, Ms. Hubert recounted the October281,1 incident involving Mr. Mollin. Ms. Hubert
also alleged that she was fajsdisciplined because she allegetindered an investigation into
her having sent a text message stating: ‘4 iaa new place no signal I'm need you to bond me
out of jail.” When asked for the text as partlodé DOC investigation, Md$Hubert reported that
the text was not on her cellular telephone becahséhad sent it from her son’s telephone. The

DOC does not dispute that Ms. Hubleas exhausted these claims.

36



Without exception, Ms. Hubert has raisedi#idnal claims against Mr. Godding, Mr.
Davis, Mr. Curry, and Mr. Calleter for the first time before this Court. These claims are
accordingly barred unless “reasonably relatiedthe allegations in her EEOC charge.

C. Reasonably Related Test

The DOC argues they these additional clainesrent reasonably related to the claims Ms.
Hubert duly exhausted. Ms. Hubargues that her non-exhaustéaims were carried out in
“precisely the same manner allegedhia EEOC charge.” The Court disagrees.

But because failure of a Title VII plaintiff texhaust administrative remedies is a claim-
processing rule—as opposed to a jurisdictionkexhaustion of administrative remedies as a
prerequisite to suit is sugjt to equitable defenséxwlkes v. Ironworkers Local 4090 F.3d
378, 385-86 (2d Cir. 2015) (citirgpwles v. Russelb51 U.S. 205, 216 (2007) (Souter, J.
dissenting)see also Fernandez v. Chertef71 F.3d 45, 58 (2d Cir. 2006) (“Because [the]
failure to exhaust [one’s] adminiative remedies is not a juristional defect, it is subject to
equitable defenses.”), and waivE&ipes v. Trans World Airlines, Ine155 U.S. 385, 393 (1982).

Accordingly, a court may hear only those TNM# claims “that eitherare included in an
EEOC charge or are based on conduct subsetuém EEOC charge which is ‘reasonably
related’ to that alleged in the EEOC chardgutts v. City of New York Dep’t of Hous. Pres. &
Dev, 990 F.2d 1397, 1401 (2d Cir. 1993) (citation omittedperseded by statute on other
grounds The Second Circuit has recognized sevigras of situations “where claims not
alleged in an EEOC charge are sufficiently relatetihe allegations in the charge that it would
be unfair to civil rights plaintiff¢o bar such claims in a civdlction,” and has “loosely referred to

these claims as ‘reasonably relatedthe allegations in the EEOC chargBitts 990 F.2d at
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1402. The defense arises from a recognition tB&OC charges [are] frequently are filled out
by employees without the bditeof counsel . . . .Id.

Subsequent conduct is reasonaielated to conduct in an EEQsDarge if: “[1] the claim
would fall within the reasonably expected scopan EEOC investigatioof the charges of
discrimination; [2] it alleges retaliation for filg the EEOC charge; or [3] the plaintiff ‘alleges
further incidents of discrimination carried outgrecisely the same magmalleged in the EEOC
charge.”Alfano v. Costellp294 F.3d 365, 381 (2d Cir. 2002) (quotBgtts 990 F.2d at 1402—
03.

Although Ms. Hubert’s opposition brief is faofn a model of clarity, she appears to
make an argument that the second and Buttisexceptions to administrative exhaustion should
apply. The Court disagrees.

I. Retaliation Exception

Ms. Hubert argues that she need not exhiaeisunexhausted claims because many of the
facts for which she has offered some degree adfpwere, in fact, retaliation for Ms. Hubert
rejecting the many sexual advances of her superiors. The Court disagrees.

Title VII makes it unlawful for an employer to discriminate against an employee because
the employee has made a “charge, testifiedsteskior participateth any manner in an
investigation, proceeding, or hearing under thischapter.” 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a). Consistent
with the text of the statute, the Second Cirbais instructed that, for an employee to avail
herself of the seconBluttsexception, she must show a “specific linkage” between an EEOC
charge and an act of retaliatigkifang 294 F.3d at 3823ccord Butts990 F.2d at 1402 (“[W]e
have relaxed the exhaustion requirement basdbeoalose connection of the retaliatory act to

both the initial discriminatoryanduct and the filing of the chargself.” (citation omitted)).
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Ms. Hubert has generally offered evidemaseto two categories of additional, non-
exhausted allegations relating to: (1) assauttpgsitions for sex, and sexually suggestive text
messages, including sexuadlyplicit photographs; (2) andlé disciplinay charges.

As to the first category, these allegationsiasefficiently related to Ms. Hubert’'s duly
exhausted claims. In Ms. Hubert's July 2010RIHcomplaint, she lodged a complaint with
CHRO because she had been demoted. AlthMdgylHubert generally alleges retaliatory
conduct on the part of Mr. Davis, Mr. Austiy. Curry, Mr. Godding, and Mr. Callender, Ms.
Hubert has provided no evidence to show ac¢Hgjuelinkage” between her CHRO activity and
these later acts of alleged discriminatiBee Alfanp294 F.3d at 382. As an example, in her
opposition to the DOC’s motion for summary judgmeMs. Hubert argues that Mr. Callender
“became harassing and retaliatory after she reth e sexual advanced?l.’s Opp’n Br. at 9.
Elsewhere, she argues that Mr. Davis deniedHhert specific jolmassignments because she
rebuffed his sexual advancéd. at 15° But Ms. Hubert has offered no evidence that these acts
were somehow related to Mr. Hubert having “clefed)], testified, assistie or participated in
any . . . investigation, proceeding, or hearingder Title VII. 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a).

Ms. Hubert has also failed to provide awdence probative of the connection between
Ms. Hubert’'s CHRO activity and Mr. Callendesigng Ms. Hubert a late slip and what Ms.
Hubert believes to be a poor evaluatiSee Abraham v. Potte494 F. Supp. 2d 141, 151 (D.

Conn. 2007) (“The scope of an EEOC investigatiannot reasonably be expected to encompass

19The Court notes that the Asmded Complaint is similarly general as to how the conduct
complained of relates back to Ms. Hutleaving engaged in protected activiBee, e.g. Am.
Compl. T 42 (stating that “Defenalg{Callender], thereafter rdiated against the Plaintiff by
discipliner her” for opposing his harassing condudt)y 55 (“[T]he Plaintiff Sharone Hubert
suffered numerous instances of retaliation from the Defendands.f)79 (“Plaintiff Sharone
Hubert has been intentionally, discriminatgréind arbitrarily passed over for promotion and
advancement time and time again . . . .").

39



retaliation when [a plaintiff haghiled to put the agency on negithat [ Jhe had engaged in the
type of protected activitthat is the predicate tretaliation claim.” (quotin@’Hara v.

Memorial Sloan—Kettering Cancer Cent@7 Fed. App’x. 69, 70 (2d Cir. 2001)). Courts in the
Second Circuit have made clear that the tedple exception to administrative exhaustion under
Title VIl does not permit a Title VII plaintiff téreely import non-exhausted claims into the case.
See, e.gAlfang 294 F.3d at 382 (“[The Plaintiff] did natlege that DOCS taliated against her
for filing an EEOC charge; her vague, conchysaccusations of ‘reti@atory conduct’ are
insufficient to meet th8uttsrequirement of a specific linkadpetween filing an EEOC charge
and an act of retaliation.”Crawford v. Nat'l R.R. Passenger Carplo. 3:15-cv-131 (JBA),
2015 WL 8023680, at *4 (D. Conn. Dec. 4, 201¢gsting doubt as twhether racist and
threatening behavior by the ptéif's co-worker was reasonabiglated to alleged retaliation
amounting to an un-named supervisor’s decigionire the white relatives of one of the
plaintiff's harassers over th@aintiff’'s daughter-in-law).

Here, the inquiry turns on whether Maulbért has offered admissible evidence that
demonstrates a “close connectioritwd retaliatory act to . . . thieitial discriminatory conduct.”
Butts 990 F.2d at 1402. She has not.

For the claims arising before the April 2012dle but not included i, the retaliation
exception would not apply because the incidents arose before the April 2012 CHRO complaint.
See Zerilli v. New York City Transit Auth62 F.3d 1149, 1998 WL 642465, at *2 (2d Cir. 1998)
(“[The plaintiff] could readily have included thecident in her EEOC charge. Her failure to do
so means that she did not exhaust admatise remedies, and the claim is barredXidmstrong
v. Potter No. 3:08-cv-1615 (HBF), 2010 WL 2584885 *at(D. Conn. June 21, 2010) (“When

the alleged retaliation is not $&d on actions subsequent te fiting of the EEOC charge, the
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relaxed exhaustion requirement . . . doesapply.”). Even when presented with a second
opportunity to properly exhaust the claim wistre amended the complaint, Ms. Hubert chose
not to do so. These allegatiaingrefore are barred subjectth@ possibility that the same-
manner exception may apply.

il. Same Manner Exception

Ms. Hubert argues that the nerhausted incidents are reasbly related to those that
were properly exhausted because ltitter were performed in preely the same manner as the
former. The Court disagrees.

In the same-manner inquiry, “the focus should be on the factual allegations made in the
[CHRO] charge itself, describing the disamatory conduct about which a plaintiff is
grieving.” Deravin v. Kerik 335 F.3d 195, 201 (2d Cir. 2003) (internal quotation marks omitted)
(quotingFreeman v. Oakland Unified Sch. Djs291 F.3d 632, 637 (9th Cir. 2002)). The central
guestion is whether the plaintiff's complaint @ilevith the CHRO gavéhat agency “adequate
notice to investigate discrimination on both basP#au v. Centrix, Ing501 F. Supp. 2d 321,
326 (D. Conn. 2007) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Ms. Hubert has offered evidenoénumerous specific incidentthat can be divided into
two categories of discriminatory conduct: (1) Msibert’s access to thhestroom, and (2) sexual
assault and sexual innuendo, propositions foraed,sexually explicit text messages. The issue
is whether either category of discriminatory cocid‘can be fairly read to encompass the claims
ultimately pleaded” or are sufficient to havddped the employer on notice that such claims
might be raised.Mathirampuzha v. Potte648 F.3d 70, 77 (2d Cir. 2008). The answer is no.

(1) The October 12, 2012 Incident
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The April 2012 CHRO complaint, as amedddescribed the October 2012 incident with
Mr. Mollin, which Ms. Hubert framed as a denadlmedical treatment. The incidents involving
Mr. Callender raise the issuefofe access to restroom facilitiddese incidents resemble one
another to the extent that the three mialve Ms. Hubert’'s medical condition and the
humiliation Ms. Hubert experienced as a resutheim. But focusing on the factual allegations
in the CHRO complaint regarding the Mollin ident, as this Court must, and contrasting that
with the harassing conduct about which MsbeEld now alleges but has not exhausted, the
resemblance fadeSee Deravin335 F.3d at 201 (“In determimy whether claims are reasonably
related, the focus should be on thetual allegations made in tfieEOC] charge itself . . . ."”)
(citation and internal quotation marks omittddys. Hubert has offered no evidence to support
the notion that the latter incideritcan reasonably be expected towgout of the charge that was
made,” and the Court therefore cannot fairly ¢aresthem as falling within the scope of the
CHRO investigationFitzgerald v. Hendersqr251 F.3d 345, 359-60 (2d Cir. 2001) (citation and
internal quotation marks omittetf).

(2)  Sexual Harassment

As to sexually explicit text messagedefone calls, and sexual assault, in the 2012
CHRO complaint Ms. Hubert recounts the dwart involving Ms. Williams. Ms. Hubert claimed
to have been wrongly disciplined because shedadeprovide the DOC with a text message sent
to Ms. Williams when requested. This textssage involved an exchange between two women

of a nonsexual nature about a domeistitcdent of a non-sexual nature.

11ndeed, Ms. Hubert has provitléhe note from Ms. Hubert’s migal provider that described
her medical condition. May 23, 2014, &tera Ltr. at 1. The note is dated June 8, 2014. But the
incident involving Mr. Callender took place afteethote was issued. Ms. Hubert has offered no
other evidence that Mr. Mollin or Mr. @Gander knew about her medical condition.
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In contrast, in this lawsuit, Ms. Hubeeks to address various specific instances of
inappropriate conduct of different degrees irdquencies with respect to Mr. Davis, Mr.
Godding, Mr. Callender, and Mr. Curry involgriext messages. But Ms. Hubert makes no
reference to Mr. Davis, MAustin, Mr. Godding, Mr. Calleder or Mr. Curry in the 2014
CHRO.

While the exception to exhaien for reasonably relatedaims is “based on the
recognition that EEOC charges frequently allediout by employees without the benefit of
counsel and that their primary pase is to alert the EEOC to thiscrimination tlat a plaintiff
claims [she] is suffering,Littlejohn, 795 F.3d at 322 (citation omittg the CHRO investigation
into the allegations Ms. Hubertade in the CHRO complaint could not reasonably have focused
on the discrimination Ms. Hubert now claims that she suffé@ed.Deravin335 F.3d at 200-01
(“A claim is considered reasobly related if the conduct comjiteed of would fall within the
scope of the EEOC investigation which can reaslyriadexpected to grow out of the charge
that was made.” (citation and internal quatatmarks omitted)). Ms. Hubert has offered no
evidence to support a conclusion to the contrary.

Indeed, Ms. Hubert has testil that Mr. Godding and M€allender regularly sent her
sexually explicit text messages well before Braught a complaint before the CHRO in April
2012. The same is true of Mr. Davis and Mrshu allegedly sexually assaulting Ms. Hubert,
while she was stationed at Harford CC the firae. “[Ms. Hubert] could readily have included
the incident[s] in her [agency] charge. Haluige to do so means that she did not exhaust
administrative remedies, and the claim is barr&erilli, 1998 WL 646465, at *2. Ms. Hubert

made no allegations about sexual harassmhaasault in the 2010 CHRO complaint, and
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when faced with a second and third opportutotproperly exhaust these claims in the April
2012 charge, which she subsequently amended, she chose not {3 do so.

The Second Circuit’s decision knttlejohn underscores this point. There, the plaintiff
alleged that the defendant sexually harassed heolation of Title VII, but the district court
found that the plaintiff had failed to exhabsr administrative remedies. 795 F.3d at 321-22. In
the agency intake questionnaire and chargesafignination, the plaintiff claimed discrimination
based on race and color and retaliation baselder complaints about such discriminatiloh at
322. In neither of the forms did the plafhtilaim discriminationbased on sex, “even though
there is a box to indicate disarination based on sex located dihgoext to those for race and
color.” Id. Nor did the plaintiff refer to the defeandt nor any of his alleged acts of sexual
harassment in the completed forms, whickatibed why she allegedly suffered unlawful
discrimination.ld. “Indeed, [the plaintiff's] Intake Qud&snnaire and Charge of Discrimination
do not include any factual allegations whatsedescribing the alleged sexual harassment by
[the defendant], even though the harassmerjedly began . . . . well before she completed
these forms.'ld. at 322—-23.

The same is true here. Other than the tlzaat some of Ms. Hubert's non-exhausted
claims involve a text message, the 2012 CHi®@plaint contains no factual allegations
whatsoever about sexually harassm€ourts in this Circuit rexgnize that “[ah imperfect fit
between the EEOC charge and complaint allegatsonet fatal as long as Title VII's scheme of

agency adjudication in the first instance is not thwart€tihin v. City Univ. of New York Sch. of

12 Ms. Hubert has also indicatéitht, once she made a general allegation that her supervisors had
sent her sexually explicit text messageseJan. 30, 2013, Hubert Ltr. at 1, she had

representation by counseke id(stating that she would prae the photographs to her

attorney), assistance many administrative complainants do notSes/&utts990 F.2d at 1402
(“EEOC charges frequently are filled out by emp@eg without the benefit of counsel . . . .").
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Law at Queens CoJI963 F. Supp. 218, 222—-23 (E.D.N.Y. 1997) (citdwgyg v. Cleland642
F.2d 316, 319-20 (9th Cir. 1981)). But here, theaand “bear[] no factual or legal relation to
the allegations in the [agency] charge and wawtnaturally be addressed in the course of an
[agency] investigation e such allegationsHoltz v. Rockefeller & Cp258 F.3d 62, 84 (2d
Cir. 2001). For this Court to view them othersvisould give too broad a meaning to the term
“reasonably related” and ignore the narress of the exception, which requires later
discrimination be carried out liprecisely” the same manner aked in the agency complaint.
See Alfanp294 F.3d at 382. Moreover, “the valwessociated with exhaustion [would be]
entirely lost because the [ageneyduld have [had not] the opportiymio investigate, if not the
particular discriminatory incident, the methafddiscrimination manifested in prior charged
incidents.”Butts 990 F.2d at 1403.

Ms. Hubert’'s argument that, she shouldelzeused from exhausting her non-exhausted
allegations about sexually diqit text messages becausead@HRO mediation conference,
DOC representatives “appeared to have besgufarly interested in her sexual harassment
related pictures,” lacks merit.

At some point after the Affirmative Actiddnit closed its investigation and when Ms.
Hubert again met with a repegative from the Affirmativé\ction Unit, Ms. Hubert had a
CHRO hearing regarding Ms. Hubert's 2012 CHR@ptaint. Ms. Hubert testified that at this
hearing, “they were asking [her]rfthe pictures.” Yet, as shesbefore on other occasions, Ms.
Hubert “plead the fifth” and declined to answether than in the most general terms, questions
about the photographs, instead explairiimat she feared for physical safebeeHubert Aff. |
81 (“Although I didn’t give names | reported WardeRaptains and Officethad sent pictures

of their penis exposed and erect to my cell ghand sexual text messages.”). Ms. Hubert has
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offered no evidence that is probative of whetheRCHhad in its possession or had seen any of
the photographs or had any outside knowledge of them othethhiathey existed and were
allegedly sent from colleagues. Nor has Mabert attempted to shed light on why she would
believe that investigation into the discriminataim that she initiatedould amount to self-
incrimination such that the Fifth Amendment would apfly.Baxter v. Palmigianp425 U.S.

308, 318 (1976) (“[T]he Fifth Amendment does not fdrbdverse inferencemyainst parties to

civil actions when they refuse to testify in respemo probative evidence offered against them . .
)

In short, Ms. Hubert’s near complete redlito provide material information at both
agency levels has effectively forestalled a &t fair airing of heallegations of sexual
harassment. This reticence, even if understdadgben the sensitiveature of her claims,
nevertheless, is at odds withrlabligation to admirstratively exhaust her Title VII claims and
the “concurrent obligation of goddith” participation in thisadministrative process before
bringing suit.Matos v. Hove940 F. Supp. 67, 71 (S.D.N.Y. 1996%ting Title VII cases where
courts have dismissed complaints where a clairfals to provide suftiient information that
would enable the agency to investigate the clagfiller v. Kempthorng357 Fed. App’x 384,
385 n.1 (2d Cir. 2009) (“While an aggrieved em@eymay proceed directly to federal court on
an ADEA claim, [the plaintiff] became obligateddmhaust his administrative remedies when he
decided to commence proceedings with the EEOC.”) (citiingnn v. Sec’y, Dep't of Veterans
Affairs, 918 F.2d 1073, 1078 (2d Cir. 1990).

While Ms. Hubert has expressed havindgaith in the Affirmative Action Unit's

investigatory process, there is nothing in tieisord justifying the withholding of allegedly
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critical information to an entirely independemministrative process,raquisite step to pursing
these claims in federal court.

“The purpose of th[e] statutory preresgjte[] to bringing a civil action—and the well-
established policy of the employment discrintioa laws—is to provide an opportunity for the
resolution of discrimination complaints by meaof ‘conciliation, conference, and persuasion.”
Wrenn 918 F.2d at 1078 (citing 29 U.S.C. § 626@D;U.S.C. § 2000e-5(b)). In enacting Title
VII, Congress selected cooptoa and voluntary compliance as the vehicle for achieving the
goal of ensuring equal opportunity in employméiéxander v. Gardner-Denver Ca@.15 U.S.
36, 44 (1974)accordMach Mining, LLC v. E.EE.O.C. U.S. ,135S. Ct. 1645, 1651 (2015)
(“In pursuing the goal of bringing employntetiscrimination to an end, Congress chose
cooperation and voluntary compliance as its pretemeans.” (citation, internal question marks
and brackets omitted)). The statutory mandate is not merely preddtomfy.Mining 135 S. Ct.
at 1651 (citingNat'l R.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morgéh86 U.S. 101, 109 (2002)). Under the
express terms of the statutory scheme, “[o]nthé [appropriate agency] ignable to secure’ an
acceptable conciliation agreement—that is, onltsifittempt to conciliate has failed—may a
claim against the employer go forwarttd! (quoting 8 2000e—-5(f)(1)).

Absent a good-faith obligation fmarticipate in the investigaty process, the requirement
that a Title VII plaintiff exhaust administige remedies becomes mere surplusage and
“frustrate[s] the congressional policy favoringwdistrative resolution of complaints for no
discernible reasonWrenn 918 F.2d at 1078.

As the Second Circuit has stated:

Continued pursuit of such claimsonsumes judicial and other

resources, resulting in a dead-glai social losexcept for giving
satisfaction to litigants whoprefer court proceedings to
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administrative relief. However, litagion is not a sport in which the
hunter may release a trapped qudonthe thrill offurther chase.

Id. at 1078-79.

In light of the importanpublic policy expressed in fleé VII, this Court cannot
reasonably say that Ms. Hubershduly exhausted her allegaticagainst Mr. Davis, Mr. Austin,
Mr. Callender, Mr. Godding, or Mr. Curry or thihiese allegations reasonably relate to her
exhausted claims. The allegations therefare barred from furer consideration.

Ms. Hubert’s reliance oflohnson v. Palime31 F.2d 203 (2d Cir. 1991) is misplaced.
TheButtsexceptions to exhaustion focus on the natirine factual allgation, but the test
Johnsorrefers to, first articulated iGlus v. G.C. Murphy Cp562 F.2d 880 (3d Cir. 197,79sks
whether a Title VII action in federal court maypeed against a partieulparty that was not
joined in the agency actioBeelJohnson931 F.2d at 209-10 (quotilgus 562 F.2d at 888).
The exception permits such a Title VII action whitrere is a “clear identity of interest” between
the un-named defendant and the paggned in the administrative charggk.at 209 see, e.g.
Shider v. Commc’ns Workers of Am. Local 1106. 04-2626-CV, 2005 WL 2650007, at *2 (2d
Cir. Oct. 17, 2005) (summary order)ndiing no common identity between a local and
international union)Coleman v. Bd. of Eduae!5 Fed. App’x 79, 80 (2d Cir. 2002) (summary
order) (finding that the plaintifould not challenge the lower court’s dismissal of the teachers
union as a defendant because the union was not a named party in the plaintiff's EEOC charge
against the board of educatio@pok v. Arrowsmith Shelburne, In69 F.3d 1235, 1241 (2d Cir.
1995) (applying the test to assess whetheirtterests of two entities are identicapseph v.
United Techs. CorpNo. 14-cv-424 (AWT), 2015 WB51895, at *4 (D. Conn. Feb. 26, 2015)
(same)Consolmagno v. Hosp. of St. Raphaéb. 3:11-cv-109 (PCD), 2011 WL 4804774, at

*6—7 (D. Conn. Oct. 11, 2011) (same).
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As already discussed above, the DO@essole proper defendant in this c&ee Tomka
v. Seiler Corp.66 F.3d 1295, 1305 (2d Cir. 1998progated on other ground§l]f a
plaintiff's supervisor ighe alleged harasser, an employer willibble if the supevisor uses ‘his
actual or apparent authority to foer the harassment . . . .” (quotikgribian v. Columbia
Univ., 14 F.3d 773, 780 (2d Cir. 1994)). Ms. Hubes [gentified no other &ors that the Court
has not already addressed, arelIOC is a named party herellohnsortherefore is inapposite
to the facts of this case.

Ms. Hubert argues that she should be exadismen Title VII's exhaustion requirement
under the equitable defense of futility-e, her non-exhausted clairaBould be excused because
the DOC has “taken a firm stand” against hemhaofailure to exhaustdministrative remedies
may be excused on the ground tteathaustion would be futile.Skubel v. Fuorolil13 F.3d
330, 334 (2d Cir.1997) (citingavano v. Shalale®5 F.3d 147, 150 (2d Cir. 19963ge also
Kirkendall v. Halliburton, Inc.,707 F.3d 173, 179 (2d Cir.2013) (imgf that the exhaustion of
administrative remedies requirement for ERISAIms “is not absolute” and may be excused
when a plaintiff demonstrates that pursuamgministrative remedies would be futile).

Although the availability of the futility dense in the contéxf EEOC Title VII
exhaustion is an open question in the Second CisrétFowlkes790 F.3d at 386 (recognizing
that the Second Circuit has notdhthie occasion to consider tiparticular equitable defense but
suggesting that the defense may have applitatibe Court need not, and does not address its
applicability here, because the isssi@ot properly before the Court.

Ms. Hubert argues that DOCaglministrative complaint press as it relates to sexual
harassment is a “joke.” Directive 2.2, hewver, contains no exhaustion requirem&eie

Administrative Directive 2.2 at &tating: “Complaints may be ma in the following ways: . . .
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By filing a complaint with the Equal EmploymeOpportunities Commission (EEOC) or the
Connecticut Commission ddumans Rights and OpportunitiesHRO) . . . .”). She does not
make or advance by way of admissible evaean argument that exhaustion of the CHRO
process would have been futile, giving the discrimination she has suffeede.gFowlkes
790 F.3d at 386 (recognizing that at the timeptiagntiff, who allegedliscrimination based on
his transgender status, filags complaint, the EEOC hatkveloped a consistent body of
decisions that did not recognize Title VIl claitmsses on an “acquired sex”). And given that she
may proceed directly to the EEOC or CHR@der Directive 2.2, her futility argument is
irrelevant to the question @fhether she properly exhausted biims at the CHRO level.

Having not exhausted any ofrradlegations against Mr. Davis, Mr. Austin, Mr. Curry,
Mr. Godding, or Mr. Callender, and becauseeroeption to the exhaustion requirement is
applicable here, Ms. Hubert’s allegations carfoah the basis of a viable Title VII claim
against any of them. The soldegation of harassment that has been timely exhausted is the
October 31, 2011, incideirtvolving Mr. Mollin.

2. Retaliation

As already stated, Title VII prohibits an eropér from discriminating “against any of his
employees . . . because [the employee] has opposed any practice made an unlawful employment
practice by this subchapter . . ..” 42 U.S.Q080e-3(a). “The objectévof this section is
obviously to forbid an employer from retaliaiagainst an employee because of the latter’s
opposition to an unlawful employment practicklanoharan v. Columbia Univ. College of
Physicians & Surgeon842 F.2d 590, 593 (2d Cir. 1988).

To establish @rima faciecase of retaliation under Title VII, the plaintiff bears the initial

burden to submit evidence thaetemployee: (1) the employee eggd in an activity protected
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by Title VII; (2) the employer waaware of this activity; (Ipe employer took adverse action
against the employee; and (4) a causal conneetists between the alleged adverse action and
the protected activitySee Treglia v. Town of Manliu313 F.3d 713, 719 (2d Cir. 2002) (citing
Cifrav. G.E. Cqa.252 F.3d 205, 216 (2d Cir. 2001De minimisis a plaintiff's burden at this
prima faciestageld. (citing Richardson v. New York State Dept. of Corr. S&&0 F.3d 426,

444 (2d Cir. 1999)).

If a plaintiff satisfies this initial bureh, “a presumption of retaliation ariseklitks v.
Baines 593 F.3d 159, 164 (2d Cir. 2010) (citation ondjteThe burden of production then shifts
to the defendant, who must “articulate afiegate, non-retaliatory reason for the adverse
employment action.Id. (citation omitted). Ifso, “[tlhe presumption, kéng fulfilled its role of
forcing the defendant to come forward with samgponse, simply drops out of the pictui®t”
Mary’s Honor Citr. v. Hicks509 U.S. 502, 510-11 (1993). The employee must then show “that
retaliation was a substantial reasontfee adverse employment actiorlicks 593 F.3d at 165
(citation omitted) A plaintiff can sustain this burden bygwing that “a retaliatory motive played
a part in the adverse employmeutions even if it was not the sole cause[;] if the employer was
motivated by retaliatory animus, Title VIl isolated even if there were objectively valid
grounds for the [adverse employment actiotg."at 164—65 (quotingumner v. U.S. Postal
Serv, 899 F.2d 203, 209 (2d Cir. 1990)).

a. Ms. Hubert’'s Prima Facie Case

Ms. Hubert argues that, as pafta pattern of ongoing retation against Ms. Hubert for

filing a CHRO complaint in August 2010, Mr. Mio retaliated against her by refusing her

medical treatment. The DOC argues that Mshétticannot prove retaliion for engaging in
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protected activity because she has failed teraigenuine issue of material fact as to the
knowledge, adverse action, and causation elements pfihe faciecase. The Court agrees.
I. Knowledge

To satisfy the second element of firana faciecase, a plaintiff must show “a specific
basis for imputing the [Title VII violation] to the employet.ticker v. Journal Register F520
F. Supp. 2d 374, 383-84 (D. Conn. 2007) (quokiggerald v. Hendersqr251 F.3d 345, 357
(2d. Cir.2001)). “[A] jury . . can find retaliation even if the egt denies direct knowledge of a
plaintiff's protected activities, for example, kmg as the jury finds that the circumstances
evidence knowledge of thegiected activities . . . Itl. at 384 (citingGordon v. New York City
Bd. of Educ.232 F.3d 111, 116 (2d Cir. 2000)).

Ms. Hubert, however, has not offered any seeidence. She testified that Mr. Mollin
knew about her protected activity because when she transferred to Cheshire Cl “everybody knew
about everything about [her].” Hubert Dep38t14-15. Ms. Hubert explaed that a colleague
informed her that “everybody hated [Ms. Hubert] and that [she] should transfer out” and that
officers were sitting around in the officdkimg about Ms. Hubert's CHRO complaimd. 39:4—

15. But because Ms. Hubert lacks personal knogdehat Mr. Mollin knew of her protected
activity, as alleged in the July 16, 2010, CHB®@nplaint, and because there is no testimony
from the colleague who shared this informatiathviaer, by affidavit ootherwise, Ms. Hubert’s
testimony on this issue is not admissible evideSeeHubert Aff. 26 (“I'm not sure if
Lieutenant Mollins $ic] had a previous CHRO cas®her supervisors knew.’$ge alsd?orter

v. Quarantillg 722 F.3d 94, 97 (2d Cir. 2013) (“[O]nly adssible evidence need be considered
by the trial court in ruling on a motion for surang judgment,” and a ‘district court deciding a

summary judgment motion has broad discretiochoosing whether to admit evidence.
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(quotingPresbyterian Church of Sudan v. Talisman Energy, B82 F.3d 244, 264 (2d Cir.
2009)); Fed. R. Evid. 602 (“A witness may testid a matter only if edence is introduced
sufficient to support a finding that the wass has personal knowledge of the matteRi$tiso

v. Cook 691 F.3d 226, 230 (2d Cir. 2012) (citing FedERid. 602 in stating that where a party
relies on affidavits or deposition testimony to bth facts, the statements must be made on
personal knowledge (internal quotation marks omitted))Reilly v. City of W. HaveiNo. 3:02-
cv-1346 (SRU), 2005 WL 1293969, at *4 (D. Conn. Madr, 2005) (“[The plaintiff] points only
to his own affidavit, his own g®sition testimony, and a letter heotg to a member of the City
Council to buttress his claim thidte Mayor’s actions were retaliayo The problem is that these
documents only contain statements concerning [thietdf’s] beliefs . . . that [the Mayor] acted
to prevent him from obtaining ajob . . ..").

Ms. Hubert's argument that Mr. Mollin psessed the requisite knowledge because the
October 31, 2011, incident alleggdbok place one day after “ti@HRO matter was dismissed,”
is entirely unsupported by the evidence. Pl.’'s @r. at 24. Ms. Hubehas failed to provide,
either through testimonial or documentary evide, any clarity on which CHRO complaint, if
any, was dismissed on October 30, 2011. The remumthins two CHRO complaints, only one
of which, the July 16, 2010 CHRO, precedes thdliMocident. But a finding with respect to
that CHRO complaint was not issued until August 28, 2013, 677 days before the Mollin incident.
Moreover, Ms. Hubert testified that Mr. Mollintediated against her “because of who [she is]”
and made no mention of the 2012 filing. Hubert Dep at 31:810.

And the DOC has offered evidence to the cogtrBy way of an affidavit, Mr. Mollin
testified that he had no knowledge of a CHRO dampat the time of the incident. Mollin Aff.

1 4. He also testified that he asked Ms. Hubefitltout an incident rport, not because she had
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engaged in protected activity, but becauselsdd reported that she was going home sichs.
Hubert has offered no evidencerétut Mr. Mollin’s testimony.

Ms. Hubert therefore has not raised a genuidedguted issue of material fact as to
whether Mr. Mollin knew of Ms. Hub&s July 2010 CHRO compilaint.

Although Ms. Hubert's burden at tipgima faciestage isle minimis she still must meet
even this burden, and she has failed to ddMathout some showing of knowledge supported by
admissible evidence, there is no triable issue aghether Mr. Mollin unlawfully related against
Ms. Hubert for engaginm protected conduct.

Ms. Hubert has not raised any genuine issumaterial fact aso a presumption of
discriminatory retaliation. The Court theregawill grant summary judgment on this claim.

C. 42 U.S.C. § 1985

Ms. Hubert argues that Mr. Austin, MDavis, and Mr. Godding conspired to
discriminate against Ms. Hubert due to hemdgr. The DOC argues that Ms. Hubert’s claim
under § 1985 is lacking essengééments. The Court agrees.

Section 1985(3) provides an action fondayes caused by “two or more persons” who
conspire to deprive someone ojual protection of the laws, sorlg as one person takes an act in
furtherance of the object of the conspiracyl#43.C. § 1985(3). To allege a Section 1985(3)
claim, a plaintiff must plead “(13 conspiracy, (2) for the purposkdepriving, either directly or
indirectly, any person or class of persons of éguatection of the lawor of equal privileges
and immunities under the law; and (3) an aduitherance of the conspiracy, (4) whereby a
person is either injured in hisygen or property or deprived ofiaright of privilege of a citizen
of the United StatesRini v. Zwirn 886 F. Supp. 270, 290 (E.D.N.Y. 1995) (citidgited Bhd.

of Carpenters & Joiners, Local 610 v. Sc¢di3 U.S. 825, 828-29 (1983)).
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Ms. Hubert’s claim under 8§ 1985(3) is basedan alleged conspiracy among Mr. Austin,
Mr. Davis, and Mr. Godding, betting on who wouldthe first to have sex with her. By way of
affidavit, Ms. Hubert proffers the testimooy Eunice Smith, who worked for the DOC up until
2004. Smith Aff. § 4, Pl.’s SMF, Ex. 18, ECF NiB0-15. Ms. Smith recounts being in the
“chow hall” at Hartford Cl when she overhead.Mwstin making a bet with “the other officers”
that he would be first ttsleep[ ] with Ms. Hubert.Id. § 11. Ms. Smith testified that Mr. Austin
and “the other officers” weredghing and joking about who woulte the first to have sex with
Ms. Hubert.ld. § 14.

Other than Mr. Austin, Ms. Euce fails to disclose the identities of the other officers.
The record includes no other evidence from which a reasonable juror could infer that the officers
sharing in Mr. Austin’s vulgar conversatiarere Mr. Davis and MrGodding. Section 1985(3)
expressly requires “two or more persons” to pares and Ms. Hubert has, therefore, failed to
raise a genuine issue of matefedt as to liability under § 1985.

The Court therefore will grant summgndgment on Ms. Hubert's § 1985 claim.

D. 42 U.S.C. § 1986

42 U.S.C. § 1986 provides that “every merswith the knowledge of the “wrongs
conspired to be done” and “having power teyant or aid in preventing the commission of”
wrongs proscribed by 8§ 1985 and neglects or refusés s, “shall be liabléo the party injured
... for all damages caused by such wrongful act .Relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1986 flows from
a viable claim under § 198Brown v. City of Oneonta, New Yo&21 F.3d 329, 341 (2d Cir.
2000) (affirming dismissal plairffis § 1986 claim because such a claim “must be predicated on
a valid § 1985 claim”). Because the Court grdrgemmary judgment of Ms. Hubert’s § 1985 in

favor of Mr. Austin, Mr. Davis, and Mr. Goddlj, “no 8§ 1986 claim will lie where there is no
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valid § 1985 claim.’Posr v. Court Officer Shield No. 20¥80 F.3d 409, 419 (2d Cir. 1999)
(citing Gagliardi v. Vill. of Pawling 18 F.3d 188, 194 (2d Cir. 1994)).

The Court therefore will grant summgndgment of Ms. Hubert's § 1986 claim.

E. 42 U.S.C. § 1988

Section 1988 allows the Court, “in its disttoa, [to] allow the prevailing party . . . a
reasonable attorney’s fee as part of thestadtbringing a lawsii under Section 1985 and 1986.
42 U.S.C. § 1988(bkee also Hensley v. Eckerhad61 U.S. 424, 429 (1983) (noting that
Congress enacted 8§ 1988 in response to the fisareRule” under which each party in a lawsuit
ordinarily shall bear its owfees). An award under 8§ 198&juires success on the mergése
Fox v. Vice 563 U.S. 826, 833 (2011) (“When a pl#frsucceeds in remedying a civil rights
violation, we have stated, he serves as apgiattorney general, vindicating a policy that
Congress considered of the highest pryoti(internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting
Newman v. Piggie Park Enterprises, In890 U.S. 400, 402 (1968)€r curiam))); Farrar v.
Hobby, 506 U.S. 103, 109 (1992) (“[P]laintiffs mé& considered ‘prevang parties’ for
attorney’s fees purposes if they succeedrmonsagnificant issue in litigation which achieves
some of the benefit the parties sought indng suit.” (internal quotations marks omitted)
(quotingHensley v. Eckerharg61 U.S. 424, 433 (1983)).

Because of the analysis above, Ms. Hubertgasther viable claims in this lawsuit. A
claim for relief under § 1988, however, cannohdtaithout a predicate civil rights violation.
See Great Am. Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. Novaetag U.S. 366, 372, 376 (1979) (providing
that the Reconstruction-era civil rights statuegéate[] no substantive rights [themselves] but . .
. provid[e] a civil cause of action when sombestvise defined federalght-to equal protection

of the laws or equal privileges and immunities under the laws-is breaciéitligms v. State of
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Connecticut Dep’t of Cory.No. 3:16-CV-01612 (VAB), 201WL 2838081, at *6 (D. Conn.
June 30, 2017) (dismissing any stealone claims under § 1988).
The Court therefore will grant summandgment against Ms. Hubert’'s § 1988 claim.
IV. CONCLUSION

For the reasons discussed above,itotion for summary judgment@RANTED. The
motion to dismiss I®DENIED as moot, the motion for reconsideratiodENIED as moot, and
the motion for consolidation BENIED as moot.

The Clerk of the Court is instructed to erjtefgment in favor of the State of Connecticut
Department of Correction, Kyle Godding, Mich&gavis, Kevin Curry, Derrick Austin, and
Cicero Callender and close this case.

SO ORDERED at Bridgeport, Connecticut, this 30th day of March, 2018.

/s/ Victor A. Bolden

VICTOR A. BOLDEN
WNITED STATESDISTRICT JUDGE
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